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CORPORATE PROFILE AND CORPORATE INFORMATION

AFENTR2BEH

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the “"Company”, “our” or “we", together
with all its subsidiaries, the "Group”) is mainly engaged in the
provision of network system integration including provision of
network infrastructure solutions, network professional services and
smart office software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business. The shares of the Company (the “Shares") were listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“"Stock Exchange”) on 16 November 2010.
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Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO"))
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Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
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PROFILE AND CORPORATE INFORMATION
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REGISTERED OFFICE
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Tower E2, Oriental Plaza

No. 1 East Chang An Avenue

Dong Cheng District, Beijing
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

China Merchants Bank
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the "Board") of directors (the "Directors”) of
the Company (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | hereby present to you the audited annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the "Year").

BUSINESS AND MARKET OVERVIEW

The People's Republic of China (the "PRC" or “China") was among the
world's fastest-growing major economies in 2021 with the adoption
of her effective control measures over COVID-19 pandemic (the
“COVID-19"). Under the national "14th Five-Year Plan (2021-2025)"
and "Digital China" strategy, the Chinese government has redoubled
its efforts to accelerate the construction of information network
infrastructure and a national-level, integrated system of “Big Data"
centre, alongside an emphasis on industrial digital transformation.
Investment in related industries began to soar, presenting a new
momentum in the PRC's IT industry and fostered a broader market,
which has opened up numerous opportunities for the Group.

In response to the "new normal” of the COVID-19 era business
environment, the global market for IT infrastructure system
integration grew substantially during the Year amid surging demand
for new software and networking tools designed to enhance
corporate connectivity. Enterprises in a range of industries strived to
adopt various system integration solutions as a matter of priority to
manage their operations virtually and efficiently.

Meanwhile, companies have rushed to adapt to restrictions imposed
to control the COVID-19, the market for smart office solutions has
seen explosive growth as such technologies proliferate worldwide.
The phenomenon of remote work has become widespread due to
the impact of the COVID-19, and smart office solutions and software
have been crucial to maintaining business operations amid the need
to facilitate teleworking and increase flexibility. During the Year,
leveraging robust demand for IT infrastructure system integration
and smart office software solution services in the Chinese market,
the Group spared no effort to enhance its business development and
achieve its revenue growth.
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OUTLOOK

China has established itself as a major player in the global technology
space, including in IT infrastructure, software and services, and has
staked out leadership positions in emerging areas such as 5G and
robotics. Supported by favourable government policies, the demand
for IT services and investment in IT will experience continued, solid
growth in the country.

Given that COVID-19 has brought fundamental changes to the global
business environment, demand for smart office solutions is expected
to gain momentum even in the post-pandemic era. Leveraging our
targeted investment and solid IT industry experience laid out in
past years, the Group will closely monitor the development of the
industry and proactively capture market opportunities, with the
aim of optimising smart office software solutions using digital-twin
technology.

Looking ahead, the Group will maintain the stable development of
its IT infrastructure system integration business, with a focus on
expediting the development of its smart office software business,
which will be the Group's revenue growth engine, as it aims to boost
its market share in the PRC. The Group will foster relationships and
alliances with additional large enterprises to reach new customers
while continuing its investment in its research and development
centre in Xi'an, the PRC, to enhance its capabilities. In Hong Kong, the
Group will continue to bid for and acquire public and private projects,
and looks forward to increased cooperation with government
departments in the future.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EiE

In recent years, a number of technology giants have allocated
immense resources to metaverse investments, making metaverses
a development that looms large in the future of the IT industry. In
addition, the COVID-19 has prompted development of enterprise
metaverse solutions, which deliver advantages such as increased
access to talent, enhanced productivity and reduced operating
costs. At the current stage, the Group has entered into the inflection
point in relation to the development of the up-and-coming global
trend towards virtual experience. In managing increasingly complex
technology for business, the Group aims to power the enterprise
metaverse with its IT infrastructure and software solutions.
Currently, the Group offers a "hybrid” smart office solution allowing
users to work partly in the physical workplace and partly remotely,
permitting enterprises to better tap their true potential, ensuring
smooth business operations and management, and fostering their
overall productivity and competitiveness. Leveraging the strong
capabilities of our internal resources, as well as our formidable
experience in IT solutions, the Group aims to further modify and
enhance its software products through built-in compatibility with
the latest technology, and at the same time collaborate with tech
industry leaders with the ultimate goal of providing highly realistic,
virtual smart-office solutions that can be used in settings such as
finance, new economy and across multinational enterprises.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | express my gratitude to our Shareholders
for your continuous support to the Group, and to express our
appreciation to our dedicated staff for their contributions as well as
hard work, and to our customers, business partners, Shareholders
and Directors for their continuing support.

Yours faithfully,

Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Chairman and CEO

31 March 2022
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
CrEEE

A highlight of results, selected financial ratios, assets and liabilittes & KETCHHIELR EEHEABERESRE
and cash flows is as follows: I EY N -
RESULTS INFORMATION xEEN

Year ended 31 December

#E+-A=+-AILEE

2021 2020
—E_—F “TTEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETIT
(Re-presented) "
(E3R) ™
Revenue WA 484,598 469,116
Gross profit EF] 57,108 51,267
Loss before tax from continuing operation REFELSERNGRRAIEE (22,048) (78,278)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (BB &EH
- Continuing operation —FHERE X (22,329) (78,662)
- Discontinued operation — BRI R 1,329 (8,024)
(21,000) (86,686)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to ISYN=IEZ 2PN
owners of the parent FW (E18) &5F)
- Continuing operation —FHEREER (18,176) (75,027)
- Discontinued operation — BRI 1,329 (8,024)
Loss for the year auributable to FEEHI R RIL F RS
non-controlling interests
- Continuing operation —FEREER (4,153) (3,635)
(Loss)/earnings per share s (B8 /B
From continuing and discontinued operations REFERBRIECEER
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —BEEREE ARES) (RMB21.03 cents)  (RMB109.18 cents)
(AE21.035) (AEK¥109.18%)
From continuing operation REFEEEE
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —BEXREE UEED) (RMB22.69 cents)  (RMB98.63 cents)
(ANE#22.69%) (AE198.637)
From discontinued operation REBRIEEEER
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —BEEREE ARES) RMB1.66 cents  (RMB10.55 cents)

AE¥1.66%

(AR #10.559))

HRBE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLEFERESR
TWEBABERER LEE R FILERERU

constitutes a discontinued operation. Ko

" Comparative amounts are re-presented as a result of certain subsidiaries m
being disposed of for the year ended 31 December 2021, which

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 9
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEBHE

SELECTED FINANCIAL RATIOS INFORMATION RIETMIFLEEER

Year ended 31 December
HE+-A=t—HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZE--f “ECFE “ZNE —ZNEF “E—+tf&

(approximate)  (approximate) ~ (approximate)  (approximate)  (approximate)

(BE49) (BE#) (BE49) (#E49) (B4

(Re-presented)™

(=)
Gross profit margin ERx 11.8% 10.9% 13.3% 8.6% 12.7%
Net loss margin® FEEE (4.6%) (16.8%) (5.0%) (13.2%) (19.3%)
Current ratio (times) TMENLLE () 14 13 13 14 23
Gearing ratio® BRGRBERO 10.8% 6.7% 5.8% 6.7% 8.6%
Return on total assets®! BEERRY (3.1%) (9.5%) (2.0%) (3.9%) (6.4%)
Return on total equity® BRI (5.6%) (14.4%) (2.8%) (5.4%) (9.2%)

(1) Comparative amounts are re-presented as a result of certain (1) HRBEE_ T —F+_HA=+—HIFEHE
subsidiaries being disposed of for the year ended 31 December 2021, ETHBRAMBMBE RIS ER  FILBRIE
which constitutes a discontinued operation. [ ek

(2)  Calculated by using loss for the year from continuing operation divided ~ (2) 2R B ELE 5 F R IEMRUBAGTE

by revenue.
(3) Calculated by using the total of interest-bearing bank and other  (3) %5t BIR1T R EME LUK A AR E S AR AN PR L
borrowings and convertible bond divided by total assets. MMEESTE

(4)  Calculated by using loss for the year divided by average balances of  (4) RERFEMRLUBREENEED 2 FHRREES
total assets or total equity. Ho

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 1 1
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEBHE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INFORMATION EERABREEN

As at 31 December
K+=ZB=+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

it Je e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AEBTT  ARBTT  ARBTT  ARBTT  ARETR

Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY

(excluding pledged deposits)  (FBIEEEFEFE) 54,920 76,128 48,781 98,278 211,514
Current assets TEEE 378,406 366,343 399,185 404,426 744,695
Non-current assets FERBEE 271,023 354,127 710,719 955,346 691,423
Current liabilities PIEII=E 276,936 279,786 301,439 297,637 322,812
Non-current liabilities EI e =X 49,192 20,140 27,103 62,327 70,327
Equity attributable to HAREBA

owners of the parent FEHER 322,750 371,099 728,093 943,072 977,730
Non-controlling interests JEEHIE S 6,551 49,445 53,269 56,736 65,249

CASH FLOWS INFORMATION HEREEN

Year ended 31 December
#E+-A=+-ALEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

¥ RIFE IE-NE ZEF-\F IEtH
RMB'000 Y RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR AREBTT ARBTT ARETR ARET:R

Net cash (usedin)/from KEEE i) /g

operating activities RE P48 (8,707) 19,917 39,347 89,088 56,856
Net cash (used in)/from REEEH (FTA) /i

investing activities REEE (6,456) 24,699 (40,333) (195,393) (443,965)
Net cash (used in)/from &GS (FTR) /e

financing activities REEE (4,867) (15,853) (47,486) (2,902) 47,405

1 2 InvesTech Holdings Limited & :TiZBR B R A F
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEBHE

A summary of consolidated financial results for the five yearsended #HEZE_ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIEEBEFEEHN
31 December 2021 is as follows: REMBEENBENT

Year ended 31 December

HETZRA=+-HLEE

202 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZEC-F Z30%% “BNE “B-)\E 3-t%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETTT ARETT ANRETT ARETTR ANRETT
(Re-presented)
(s5)
CONTINUING OPERATION RREERH
Revenue W\W\ \ 484,598 489,116 488,682 414,864 501,933
Costof sales HEA (427,490) (617,849) (423,640) (379,256) (436,085)
Gross profit el 57,108 51,267 65,042 35,606 63,848
Other income and gains Hi AR g 5,252 6,027 3,891 5,629 15,979
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHES (25,806) (25,942) (24,654) (22,167) (25,947)
Administrative expenses G (54,359) (48,047) (56,038) (47872) (57,766)
Other expenses, net AME%3H (1,236) (58,057) (6,764) (19.877) (51,975)
Finance costs BERA (3,007) (2926) (5115) (9735) (31.991)
Loss before tax RABE (22,048) (78,218) (22,638) (58,416) (87,852)
Income tax (expense) /credit sk (B%) /% (261) (384) (2,027) 3759 (8.655)
Loss for the year from RERELEEBNEERE
continuing operation (22,329) (78,062) (24,665) (54,657) (96,707)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRIEELE
Profit/ (loss) for the year from REBAILAELBNEE
discontinued operation it/ (B8 1,329 (8,024) - - -
Loss for the year FEFE (21,000) (86,686) (24,665) (54,857) (96,707)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ REEBEENAE
that may be reclassified to profit AEENENEE
or loss in subsequent periods: @/ (58)
Exchange differences ontranslation ~ AEINEIEHZESR
of foreign operations = 26,064 21,848 (57997) 402 (18,736)
Recycle of exchange differencesupon  HENEERBONERZE
disposal of foreign operations (657) = = e e
25,407 21,848 (57,997) 602 (18736)

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 1 3
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEBHE

Y

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

that will not be reclassified to A BEIH

profit or loss in subsequent periods: 2 (1) /Wi

Exchange differences on BEATARYBERE
translation of the Company's PG ERER
financial statementsinto
presentation currency

Financial asset at fair value

BAREBESA
S 2END

through other comprehensive i
income: RS

Change in fair value NEE2S
Income tax effect i

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year, net of tax

FEEMEE (BR) /K
0 Hﬁlﬁ

Total comprehensive loss for the year ~ EE2EEBEE

Loss attributable to: WFEARMLEE
- Owners of the parent -BAREEA
- Non-controlling interests —JREhlE

Total comprehensive loss attributable to: LT & A2 EESEEE
- Owners of the parent —SAREEA
- Non-controlling interests —FEElER

1 4 InvesTech Holdings Limited & :TiZBR B R A F
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Year ended 31 December
HET-A=+—HItEE
2021 2020 2019
Z§-  CEEE EE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N R NS INEL S

(Re-presented)

HEE)

2018
TENE
RMBO0D
AE®TT

2017
TE-tE
RMBO00D
ARBTT

(27,083) (24,489) 60,052 402 974
(70,992) (271,491) (230,370) 12,939 -

- - 3,235 (3.235) -
(98,075) (295,980) (167,083) 10,106 974
(72,668) (214,132) (225,080) 10,708 (17,762)
(93,668) (360,818) (249,745) (43,949) (114,469)
(16,847) (83,051) (21,096) (k6,171) (95,611)
(4,153) (3,635) (3,569) (8,486) (1,09)
(21,000) (86,686) (24,665) (54,657) (96,707)
(89,437) (356,99) (246,278) (35,436) (113291)
(6,231) (3,824) (3.467) (8513) (1,178)
(93,668) (360,818) (249,745) (43,949) (114,469)




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year"), the Group
continued to focus on its core business of the IT infrastructure system
integration and the sales of smart office software solutions. The
majority of the Group's revenue was generated from the market in
the People's Republic of China (the "PRC" or “China"). The overall
financial performance of the Group for the Year is comparable to
that of 2020, by excluding the effect of impairment loss of goodwill
recorded in 2020. During the year under review, the Group's money-
lending business was discontinued.

Following the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic (the “COVID-19")
became stabilised and slowdown in the PRC, the Group's operations
gradually resumed to normal during the Year, particularly in the
first half of the year, the Group promptly resumed sales activities
with existing and potential customers. By maintaining close ties
with its clients and capturing surging demand for IT infrastructure
system integration and smart office software solutions across
various industries in China, the Group grew its sales considerably.
However, certain deliveries were deferred due to late deliveries
of goods by suppliers and urban lockdowns, in turn leading to a
delay in the recognition of revenue. As a result, the Group's total
revenue remained steady with a slight increase of approximately
RMB15.5 million or approximately 3.3% to approximately RMB484.6
million for the Year (2020: approximately RMB469.1 million). The
Group's gross profit increased by approximately RMB5.8 million or
approximately 11.3% to approximately RMB57.1 million for the Year
(2020: approximately RMB51.3 million), broadly in line with revenue
growth. A net loss for the year of approximately RMB21.0 million
was recorded, narrowed from the loss of RMB86.7 million in last
year, mainly attributable to the absence of the recognition of the
impairment of loan receivables and the impairment of goodwill in
relation to the network system integration cash-generating unit for
the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREMR RO

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

IT infrastructure system integration

The Group continued to expedite the development of its traditional IT
infrastructure system integration business, which remained a major
source of revenue during the Year. In addition to strengthening its
core competitiveness in the provision of a wide range of products and
services through the traditional IT infrastructure system integration
business, the Group also joined forces with various tech giants, with
the aim of acquiring new clients through strategic alliances to deliver
cutting-edge IT infrastructure solutions. To foster its sustainable
growth, the Group has further expanded its customer base, in not
only the private sector but also the public sector during the Year.

Leveraging the solid foundations in the industry and strong customer
relationships, the Group's revenue from the IT infrastructure system
integration segment increased by approximately RMB1.9 million or
approximately 0.4% to approximately RMB448.6 million for the Year
(2020: approximately RMB446.7 million).

Smart office software solutions

As office closures and work-from-home arrangements were adopted
across various industries during the Year, demand surged for the
Group's smart office software solutions and property technology
("PropTech”) solutions, which operate with Internet of Things (loT)
technology. The number of orders for, and sales of, smart office
software solutions increased significantly, delivering revenue
growth of approximately RMB13.6 million or approximately 60.7%
to approximately RMB36.0 million for the Year (2020: approximately
RMB22.4 million). Such encouraging results attest to the success
of the Group's early investment in the development of smart office
software and PropTech solutions, whose applications include
such tools as intelligent building control systems and smart visitor
management systems. The evolution of artificial intelligence, loT
technology and global awareness of the importance of sustainability,
green technologies, productivity and manageability in the
commercial real estate industry represent promising developments
for the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Smart office software solutions (continued)

To capture further opportunities in the smart office software
solutions industry and expand its market share, the Group will
expand the scope of its services and continue to upgrade Virsical, our
flagship smart office software solutions product. During the Year,
the Group also allocated more resources to expand its research and
development team and centre located in Xi'an, the PRC.

Contract awarded to the Group

In September 2021, a government contract for the provision of a
smart library system for the Hong Kong government's Leisure and
Cultural Services Department with contract sum of approximately
HK$693.1 million was awarded to an unincorporated joint venture,
which was formed by the Group and an independent third party
in proportion to the contribution of 70% and 30% respectively.
The project involves the design, supply, delivery, installation,
commissioning, implementation, system support and maintenance of
core library systems, alongside the provision of other services. The
estimated project duration is from September 2021 to March 2026,
with a warranty and maintenance period running until March 2036.
The project is set to broaden our revenue stream and expand our
business in Hong Kong in coming years.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREMR RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and cost of sales

The Group recorded a total revenue for the Year of approximately
RMB484.6 million (2020: approximately RMB469.1 million),
representing an increase of approximately RMB15.5 million, or
approximately 3.3% as compared with that of 2020. The increase in
sales was primarily attributable to the increase in sale of products in
relation to the Group's traditional IT infrastructure system integration
and smart office software solutions for the Year.

The cost of sales increased by approximately RMB9.7 million, or
approximately 2.3% to approximately RMB427.5 million for the Year
(2020: approximately RMB417.8 million). The increase in the cost of
sales was in line with the increase in revenue of the Group.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group achieved gross profit for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB57.1 million (2020: approximately RMB51.3
million), representing an increase of approximately RMB5.8
million, or approximately 11.3% as compared with that of 2020. The
gross profit margin for the Year was approximately 11.8% (2020:
approximately 10.9%), representing an increase of approximately
0.9% as compared with that of 2020. The increase in gross profit
margin was primarily attributable to the increase in sales of the
Group's smart office software solutions throughout the Year, which
had a relatively high profit margin as compared to that of other
products and services of the Group.

Other income and gains

The Group recorded other income and gains of approximately
RMB5.3 million for the Year (2020: approximately RMB6.0 million),
mainly consisted of (i) government grants released to the Group of
approximately RMB1.5 million (2020: approximately RMB3.3 million);
(i) a fair value gain on an equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately RMB1.9 million (2020: fair value loss
of approximately RMB0.2 million included in other expenses); (iii)
a fair value gain on a debt investment at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately RMB1.4 million (2020: approximately RMB1.6
million); (iv) finance income on the net investment in a lease of
approximately RMBO0.2 million (2020: approximately RMBO.4 million);
and (v) bank interest income of approximately RMB0.2 million (2020:
approximately RMBO0.4 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
RMBO0.1 million or approximately 0.4% to approximately RMB25.8
million for the Year (2020: approximately RMB25.9 million), primarily
due to the combined effect of (i) the decrease in sales commission;
and (i) the increase in the marketing activities as a result of the
resumption of normal operations and social distancing relaxation in
the PRC during the Year.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately RMB5.8
million or approximately 11.9% to approximately RMB54.4 million
for the Year (2020: approximately RMB48.6 million), was primarily
attributable to the increase in business operations and activities
during the Year.

Other expenses and impairment of goodwill

The other expenses mainly represented foreign exchange loss.
No impairment loss on goodwill in relation to the network system
integration cash-generating unit was recorded for the Year (2020:
approximately RMB57.6 million)

Finance costs

The finance costs recorded for the Year of approximately RMB3.0
million is comparable to that of 2020 (2020: approximately RMB2.9
million).

Income tax

The income tax of the Group comprised provision of income tax
expense and deferred tax. The Group recorded income tax expense of
approximately RMB3.4 million (2020: approximately RMB4.1 million)
for the Year, and the decrease in income tax expense was mainly due
to the absence of assessable profit incurred in Vietnam during the
Year. The Group recorded tax expense for the Year of approximately
RMBO0.3 million (2020: approximately RMBO0.4 million), primarily
due to the recognition of the deferred tax credit of approximately
RMB3.1 million (2020: approximately RMB3.7 million) arising from
the amortisation of other intangible assets, which offset the impact
of income tax expense.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREMR RO

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Loss for the Year from continuing operation

The Group recorded a loss for the Year from continuing operation of
approximately RMB22.3 million for the Year (2020: approximately
RMB78.7 million). The decrease was mainly attributable to the
absence of the impairment loss on goodwill for the Year (2020:
approximately RMB57.6 million).

Liquidity and financial resources
As at 31 December 2021,
calculated by total of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

the Group's gearing ratio, which is

and convertible bond divided by total assets, was approximately
10.8% (31 December 2020: approximately 6.7%). The increase
in gearing ratio was mainly due to the combined effect of (i)
the decrease in total assets resulted from the decrease in loan
receivables balance resulted from the disposal of subsidiaries and
the decrease in fair value of the investment in non-listed equity
investment; and (ii) the issue of convertible bond, during the year.

As at 31 December 2021, the total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMB49.3 million
(31 December 2020: approximately RMB48.2 million), among which
approximately RMB29.3 million (31 December 2020: approximately
RMB41.2 million) was unsecured and guaranteed by a director of the
Company. As at 31 December 2021, the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB24.9 million (31 December
2020: approximately RMB17.6 million) carried at fixed interest
rates and approximately RMB24.4 million (31 December 2020:
approximately RMB30.6 million) carried at floating interest rates.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of convertible bond
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB21.7 million (31
December 2020: Nil).

Save as aforesaid or as otherwise disclosed in this report, and apart
from intragroup liabilities, the Company did not have any other
outstanding indebtedness or contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2021.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Foreign currency risk

As certain of the Group's trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other payables are denominated in foreign
currency, exposure to exchange rate fluctuation arises. The Group
has relevant policy to monitor the risk associated with the fluctuation
of foreign currency and control such risk, if necessary.

Working capital

Inventories balance as at 31 December 2021 was approximately
RMB17.3 million (31 December 2020: approximately RMB12.6
million). The average turnover days for inventories was 13 days as at
31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 11 days).

Trade and bills receivables balance as at 31 December 2021 was
approximately RMB208.0 million (31 December 2020: approximately
RMB199.6 million). The average turnover days for trade and bills
receivables decreased to 154 days as at 31 December 2021 (31
December 2020: 159 days), which was comparable between the
years.

Trade payables balance as at 31 December 2021 was approximately
RMB174.8 million (31 December 2020: approximately RMB161.7
million). The average turnover days for trade payables decreased
to 144 days as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 145 days),
which was comparable between the years.

The Group's cash conversion cycle for the Year was 23 days as
compared with that of 25 days in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEA AR

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cash flows

The net cash used in operating activities for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB8.7 million.

The net cash used in investing activities for the Year of approximately
RMB6.5 million was mainly attributable to the combined effect
of (i) the receipt of proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately RMB13.4 million; and (ii) the increase in pledged
deposits of RMB19.7 million.

The net cash used in financing activities for the Year of approximately
RMB4.9 million was primarily attributable to the combined effect
of (i) repayment of bank and other borrowings of approximately
RMB54.0 million; (ii) new bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB42.1 million; (iii) the gross proceeds from the
issue of shares of approximately RMB14.5 million; and (iv) payment
of lease liabilities of approximately RMB7.6 million.

Capital expenditures

The Group had capital expenditures of approximately RMB22.5
million for the Year (31 December 2020: approximately RMBO0.6
million) for additions to property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets.

Capital commitments
The Group had no significant capital commitments as at 31 December
2021 (31 December 2020: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREH RS

INVESTMENT IN LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES EHRAFESFRE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a HE_ZE_—E+_B=+—HIEE > AEH
fair value gain on a held for trading listed securities investment of RS EEE L HHBHFRENAABEREY
approximately RMB1.9 million, details as follows: AR IB&IT F#FWT !

Movement during the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_Z—_—F+_H=+—HILFEZEE)

Number of
shares held
and % of

Dividend totalshare  Percentage to

Carrying Carrying income  Netincome heldby the Group's

amount amount forthe forthe theGroup  totalassets

asat asat  yearended yearended asat asat

1January  Unrealised Exchange  31December  31December  31December  31December  31December

Stock code Name of investee company 2021 gain  realignment 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

AZEC-E
S S +ZB RIEZ-%
“EC-E  CEC-E =t-# +ZR

R#o8-- 12A t2R  EEFE  =1-B

i tR  =t-B  =+-B RHEER  f55%E

-A-H XRER =+-H i34 LLFE iRy~ BESE

RENSATLHE HEfE Wi ExHE REE  REMA BHA  #ESH B

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 Approximately

AEBTR  ABBTn ARBTR ARBTR ARRTR  ARETR i)

6108 New Ray Medicine 999 1948 (67) 2,880 S 1,948 25,080,000/ 0.44%
International Holding Limited Approximately
1.50%
FREEERERARAT 25,080,000/
BT 50%

999 1948 (67) 2,880 - 1,948
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEA SRR

INVESTMENT IN LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES (continued)
Investee Company’s Principal Business, Performance and
Future Prospect

New Ray Medicine International Holding Limited (“New Ray")

New Ray is an investment holding company. New Ray and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) the distribution and trading
of pharmaceutical products; and (ii) the provision of marketing and
promotion services in the PRC. As disclosed in the interim report of
New Ray for the six month ended 30 June 2021, (i) the unaudited
revenue and profit of New Ray for the six month ended 30 June 2021
were approximately HK$214.5 million and approximately HK$1.1
million respectively; (ii) New Ray focused on its own core business
and would continue to diversify its existing product portfolio; and (iii)
New Ray would also continue to enhance and expand its sales and
marketing capabilities in the PRC.

Pursuant to the inside information announcement of New Ray dated
22 March 2022, it is expected that New Ray will record a substantial
reduction in net loss from approximately HK$69.7 million in 2020 to
not more than HK$3.0 million in 2021, based on its latest available
unaudited consolidated management accounts.

New Ray was suspended trading on 6 October 2017 due to Securities
and Futures Commission has issued a direction under Section 8(1) of
the Securities and Futures (Stock Market Listing) Rules to suspend
trading in the shares of New Ray, and the trading in the shares of New
Ray was permitted to recommence on 22 March 2022.

The Group remained holding 25,080,000 shares of New Ray in
its investment portfolio as at 31 December 2021. The Group's
management appointed an external valuer to be responsible for
the valuation of shares of New Ray. The fair value of shares of New
Ray held by the Group was approximately RMB2.9 million as at 31
December 2021.
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INVESTMENT IN NON-LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES
Investee Company's Principal Business, Performance and
Future Prospect

China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* (“CCT")

CCT is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability which
together with its subsidiaries are principally engaged in research and
development, design, production and sales of computer software
and hardware, communication products, metal, semi-conductor
and provision of network information service. Its major businesses
include high-frequency satellite communication systems, military
communication and provision of related supporting services.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company entered
into a capital injection agreement to inject an amount of RMB600
million to CCT (the "CCT Investment”). The CCT Investment was
completed on 25 July 2018 and the Company had interested in
approximately 3.91% of the enlarged registered capital of CCT as at
31 December 2021. The CCT Investment was recorded as a financial
asset at fair value through other comprehensive income of the Group.
The fair value of the CCT Investment as at 31 December 2021 was
approximately RMB40.1 million which accounted for approximately
6.1% of the Group's total asset as at 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the fair value loss net of
the income tax in respect of the above unlisted equity investment
recognised in other comprehensive loss amounted to RMB70,992,000
(2020: RMB271,491,000). The fair value loss was mainly attributable
to (i) the continuous poor business and economic environment in
the industry of satellite communication products as a result of the
sanctions imposed by the United States of America and the slowdown
in the global economy caused by the outbreak and the escalation
of the COVID-19; (ii) the asset impairment for a major subsidiary of
CCT that undergoes bankruptcy reorganisation procedures; (iii) the
decrease in value of equity investments held by CCT; and (iv) the
unenforced amount under various litigations for enforcement to CCT.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREMR RO

INVESTMENT IN NON-LISTED EQUITY SECURITIES

(continued)

Investee Company'’s Principal Business, Performance and
Future Prospect (continued)

China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* (“CCT") (continued)
Given that there were several factors affecting its operating
capabilities, such as the seizure of important assets, the suspension
of its major construction projects, etc. Notwithstanding the above,
the management of CCT will proactively take feasible improvement
and supportive measures to reorganise its businesses in order to
improve its financial position. Looking ahead, the Group will continue
to monitor the operations of CCT for its turnaround in future.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of employees of the Group
was 285 (31 December 2020: 256). The breakdown of employees of
the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Manufacturing and technical engineering B4 R i T12
Sales and marketing THE R TiBHE
General and administration — MR RAT
Research and development i

Total #ast

Compensation policy of the Group is determined by evaluating
individual performance of the employees and has been reviewed
regularly.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Acquisition of 25% of entire equity interest in Fortune Grace

Management Limited (the “Fortune Grace")

On 23 September 2021, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Smoothly Global Holdings Limited (the
"Vendor") to acquire twenty-five (25) ordinary shares of Fortune
Grace, representing its 25% entire equity interest, at a consideration
of HK$30.0 million which shall be settled by the issue of the
convertible bond in the principal amount of HK$30.0 million by the
Company to the Vendor (the "Acquisition”). Prior to the completion of
the Acquisition, the Company held 75% of equity interest in Fortune
Grace, being a direct non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.
As at the date of the sale and purchase agreement (i.e. 23 September
2021), the Vendor was a substantial shareholder (as defined in
the Rules (the "Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities
on main board of the Stock Exchange) of the Company interested
in approximately 18.41% of the then issued share capital of the
Company. The Vendor was also owned as to 70% by Mr. Chan Sek
Keung, Ringo and as to 20% by Ms. Wang Fang. On 23 September
2021, Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo was executive Director and was
beneficially and deemed to be interested in approximately 5.63%
of the then issued share capital of the Company, while Ms. Wang
Fang was executive Director and was beneficially interested in
approximately 0.05% of the then issued share capital of the Company.
Accordingly, the Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction
and is subject to the reporting, announcement, circular and the
independent shareholders' approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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NI TR
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AR

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL (continued) BARWNBRHESEE ®

Upon the completion of the Acquisition on 26 November 2021,
Fortune Grace became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. The Directors are of the view that the Acquisition
enables the Group to obtain full control over the management and
operation of the Fortune Grace and its subsidiaries and is in line
with the Group's planning and development strategies. Details of
the Acquisition are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 23 September 2021, 18 October 2021, 29 October 2021 and 19
November 2021, and the circular of the Company dated 2 November
2021.

Disposal - Discontinued operation - money lending business
The Group disposed of the money lending business segment in March
2021.

On 25 March 2021, the Company (as the vendor), Metro Win
Investment Holdings Limited (the "Metro Win", as the purchaser),
and Ms. Cheung Hing Ling (being the ultimate beneficial owner
of Metro Win, as the guarantor) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to sell and Metro Win has conditionally agreed to purchase
one (1) share of InvesTech Finance (International) Limited (the
"Target Company"), representing the entire issued share of the
Target Company at the consideration of HK$16.0 million (the
"Disposal Transaction”). The Target Company is principally engaged
in investment holding and its wholly owned subsidiary, InvesTech
Finance Limited, is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability and is principally engaged in money lending
business. Details of the Disposal Transaction have been set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2021.

Completion of the Disposal Transaction took place on 30 March
2021 and a gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately RMB1.3
million was recognised during the Year. As a result of the Disposal
Transaction, the Group discontinued its operation in the money
lending business.

During the Year, the Group recorded profit from discontinued
operation of approximately RMB1.3 million (2020: loss of
approximately RMB8.0 million).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Change of domicile

The Company has been deregistered from the Cayman Islands and
duly continued in Bermuda as an exempted company under the laws
of Bermuda. The change of domicile became effective on 7 July 2021
(Bermuda time) (8 July 2021 (Hong Kong time)). In connection with
the change of domicile, a new memorandum of continuance and the
New Bye-laws have been adopted by the Company with effect from 7
July 2021 (Bermuda time) (8 July 2021 (Hong Kong time)).

Capital reorganisation

On 3 May 2021, the Company announced to implement the capital
reorganisation after the change of domicile becoming effective that
(i) every twenty (20) issued and unissued shares of US$0.02 each
will be consolidated into one (1) consolidated share (“Consolidated
Share") of USS$0.40 each (the "Share Consolidation"); (ii) the issued
share capital of the Company will be reduced through a cancellation
of the paid-up capital of the Company to the extent of US$0.39 on
each of the issued Consolidated Shares such that the nominal value
of each issued Consolidated Share will be reduced from USS$0.40
to US$0.01 (the “Capital Reduction”); (iii) immediately following
the Capital Reduction, each authorised but unissued Consolidated
Shares of US$0.40 each will be sub-divided into forty (40) new
shares of US$0.01 each (the “Share Subdivision”); and (iv) the credits
arising in the books of the Company from the cancellation of any
fraction in the issued share capital of the Company which may arise
from the Share Consolidation, and the Capital Reduction will be
credited to the contributed surplus account of the Company within
the meaning of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The Share
Consolidation, Capital Reduction and Share Subdivision became
effective on 28 July 2021. Details of the above are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 3 May 2021, 26 May 2021,
23 June 2021, 8 July 2021 and 27 July 2021, and the circular of the
Company dated 31 May 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREMR RO

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

Placing of new shares under general mandate

On 16 August 2021, a placing agent and the Company entered into a
conditional placing agreement pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to place through the placing agent, on a best
effort basis, a maximum of 14,040,000 ordinary shares of the par
value of US$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company ("Placing
Share(s)") at the placing price of HK$1.24 per Placing Share (the
“First Placing"). Completion of the First Placing took place on 6
September 2021, and an aggregate of 14,040,000 Placing Shares
have been successfully placed to not less than six placees pursuant
to the terms and condition of the placing agreement. The Company
received net proceeds of approximately HK$16.8 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB14.0 million) from the First Placing. Up to the
date of this report, the entire new proceeds has been utilised as to
(i) approximately HK$7.6 million for the general working capital; (ii)
approximately HK$1.2 million for financing the business development
of the Group; and (iii) approximately HK$8.0 million for repayment of
bank and other borrowings of the Group. Details of the First Placing
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 16 August
2021, 27 August 2021, 1 September 2021 and 6 September 2021.

EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Placing of new shares under specific mandate

On 22 November 2021, a placing agent and the Company entered
into a conditional placing agreement pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to place through the placing agent, on a
best effort basis, a maximum of 33,000,000 ordinary shares of the
par value of US$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (“New
Placing Share(s)") at the placing price of HK$1.5 per New Placing
Share (the “Second Placing”). Completion of the Second Placing
took place on 11 March 2022, and an aggregate of 33,000,000 New
Placing Shares have been fully placed by the placing agent, the gross
proceeds from the Second Placing was HK$49.5 million, and the
net proceeds from the Second Placing, after deducting the placing
commission and other expenses incurred in the Second Placing, was
approximately HK$48.0 million. Such net proceeds are intended to
be used for project on hand of approximately HK$29.6 million has
not been utilised up to the date of this report. Details of the Second
Placing are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 22
November 2021, 23 December 2021, 13 January 2022, 27 January
2022 and 11 March 2022, and the circular of the Company dated 24
December 2021.
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EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
(continued)

Placing of new shares under specific mandate (continued)
Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant
subsequent event undertaken by the Group subsequent to 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this report.

OUTLOOK

Leveraging robust demand for IT infrastructure system integration
and smart office software solution business in the PRC's market,
the Group will continue to enhance its business development,
with a focus on smart office software solutions to capture market
opportunities. It is worth noting that the Group’s total contracted
sales backlog (comprised of the sales of both IT infrastructure
system integration and smart office software solutions) increased
by approximately 340.3% to approximately RMB802.9 million as at 31
December 2021, as compared to that of 2020. The Group expects its
revenue to grow, with more income recognised upon the completion
of projects in the years ahead.

The Group has always actively sought opportunities to build a new
business ecosystem and to become a leading integrated smart IT
solutions provider. With a view to further expanding our revenue base
and diversifying our business, the Group's management will continue
to identify suitable acquisition and investment targets to tap new
business opportunities in markets both inside and outside China,
especially in Asia-Pacific, while progressing enterprise metaverse
development and achieving breakthroughs in the industry.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFXEE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (“Mr. Chan"), aged 62, is the chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the CEO of the Company.
Mr. Chan is also the chairman of the investment committee of the
Company (the “Investment Committee”). Mr. Chan is in charge of the
overall strategic planning, business planning and decision making in
all material matters of the Group. Mr. Chan was appointed as non-
executive Director on 23 December 2015 and was re-designated as
executive Director on 21 September 2016. Mr. Chan was appointed as
the chairman of the Board on 25 February 2016 and was appointed as
CEO of the Company on 21 September 2016.

Mr. Chan has obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Engineering
from The University of Hong Kong in November 1981. Mr. Chan is
currently a member of the Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference for Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the PRC. Mr. Chan has
over 30 years of experience in the IT and network industry. Mr. Chan
has previously worked for various multi-national corporations such
as General Electric Company, Case Communications Limited and Infa
Telecom Limited and served in senior executive positions in the Asia
Pacific region.

Mr. Chan also served as the sole director of Smoothly Global
Holdings Limited. He is currently the director of the following major
subsidiaries of the Company, namely Fortune Grace Management
Ltd., Wafer Systems Limited, Wafer Systems (China) Ltd., Beijing
Wafer New Century Information Technology Co., Ltd., Wafer Network
Systems (Shanghai) Co Ltd., Wafer (Xi'an) Software Co Ltd., and
Wafer Systems (Vietnam) Co., Ltd.
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Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Wang Fang (“Ms. Wang"), aged 54, is an executive Director and a
vice CEO of the Company. Ms. Wang was appointed as Director and a
vice CEO of the Company on 23 December 2015.

Ms. Wang graduated from Nanjing University of Posts and
Telecommunications (formerly known as Nanjing College of Posts
and Telecommunications) (Radio Engineering Section) in July 1988,
and obtained a degree of master of Business Administration from
the program jointly organised by the Beijing University and Fordham
University in May 2002.

Ms. Wang joined us in June 1995 and was promoted as the president
subsequently, wherein Ms. Wang was mainly responsible for daily
business operation, management and oversee of communication
system segment, including decision making in corporate strategy,
corporate policy review and internal control. Ms. Wang has over 20
years of experience in the area of network system integration.

Mr. Lu Chengye ("Mr. Lu"), aged 44, is an executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Lu is in charge of the overall strategic planning,
business planning and decision making in all material matters of
communication system segment of the Group. Mr. Lu was appointed
as Director on 29 May 2013.

Mr. Lu has over 20 years of experience in the communication industry
gained in the Group and in his previous employment. Before joining
the Group, Mr. Lu worked as a director of the science and research
department of base station software development in a renowned
mobile communication equipment company in the PRC from April
2002 to August 2008, mainly responsible for the design, development
and implementation of solution of communication base station
software. From August 2009 to May 2012, Mr. Lu had served as the
general manager of TD-SCDMA/TD-LTE production line of another
prestigious communication equipment and technology firm, mainly
in charge of the establishment and research and development works
for projects of wireless base station and communication base station
equipments. Mr. Lu obtained his master degree of engineering
from Xidian University (5% & F##52K22) majoring in information
and communication engineering in March 2002. As an expert from
TD-LTE workgroup of the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the People's Republic of China (F1ZE AR HFET
#M5 21530), Mr. Lu was the inventor of 7 patented technologies
in the communication sector, and has published several research
papers on communication topics in various journals.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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Executive Directors (continued)
Mr. Liu Chun Fai ("Mr. Liu"), age 34, is an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Liu was appointed as Director on 1 August 2020.

Mr. Liu was educated in Canada. Mr. Liu has over 10 years of working
experience in legal, finance and management. Mr. Liu currently
served as an executive director and chairman of China Eco. Farming
Limited (stock code: 8166, a company who shares are listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”)
since February 2022 and has been acting as a director of Blue Sky
Solar Energy Management Limited, a company is mainly engaged in
one-stop solar power system installation service, since November
2018. Mr. Liu was an executive director of CEFC Hong Kong Financial
Investment Company Limited (stock code: 1520, a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from
November 2016 to June 2019. Mr. Liu has been acting as a director of
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals from 2019-2021.

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek (“Mr. Derek Wong"), aged 52, is a non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Derek Wong was appointed as
Director on 1 August 2019.

Mr. Derek Wong was educated in Canada. Mr. Derek Wong has
approximately 20 years of experience in management and operation
of textile and knitting, food and beverages business. Mr. Derek Wong
was a co-founder and an executive director of Fornton Group Limited
(renamed as Momentum Financials Holdings Limited, stock code:
1152, a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) from October 2011 to June 2014,
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi (“Mr. Tsoi"), aged 74, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and a
member of each of the C&B Committee and nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. David Tsoi was appointed as Director on 14 May
2021.

Mr. David Tsoi obtained a master's degree in business administration
from the University of East Asia, Macau (currently known as
University of Macau) in October 1986. Mr. Tsoi was admitted as (i)
an associate of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in September 1981; and (ii) an associate of the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong in March 1984. Furthermore, Mr. Tsoi was admitted as
(i) a fellow member of CPA Australia in November 2009; (ii) a fellow
member of the Association of Hong Kong Accountants in July 2014;
(iii) a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales in June 2015; (iv) a chartered professional accountant
member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British
Columbia, Canada, in June 2015; and (v) a fellow member of the
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors in December 2015.

Mr. Tsoi has over 30 years of experience in the field of accounting,
auditing and financial management. He currently serves as a director
of Alliott, Tsoi CPA Limited, and he is a certified public accountant
(practicing) registered with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Tsoi is currently an independent non-
executive director of (i) Universal Technologies Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1026) since June 2013; (i) Guru Online (Holdings)
Limited (stock code: 8121) since May 2014; (iii) VPower Group
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1608) since October
2016; (iv) Green International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2700)
since June 2017; (v) Tianli Holdings Group Limited (stock code:
117) since August 2017; and (vi) Everbright Grand China Assets
Limited (stock code: 3699) since January 2018. The shares of these
companies are listed on either GEM or the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

In the past, Mr. Tsoi had also served as an independent non-executive
director of (i) Loto Interactive Limited (stock code: 8198) from
October 2001 to July 2017; (ii) CRRC Corporation Limited (stock
code: 1766) from March 2008 to June 2014; and (iii) Enviro Energy
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1102) from July 2008 to
June 2017. The shares of these companies are listed on either GEM or
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen, aged 58, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of each of the C&B Committee and the
Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Investment Committee. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen was
appointed as Director on 25 June 2015.

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen graduated from the University of New South
Wales in Australia with a Degree of Master of Information Science in
October 1994.

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen served as a Manager, Design/Architecture
of IBM Australia Limited from May 1995 to April 2001. Mr. Lu, Brian
Yong Chen then served as a Client Unit Executive in the IBM Global
Technology Services Department of IBM China/Hong Kong Limited
from 2001 to 2012, and a partner of the Business Application
Consulting Sector of IBM (China) Company Limited from June 2012.
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen is an independent non-executive director of
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (stock code: 1401, a company whose
share are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since 18
October 2019.

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen is a successful corporate executive with
excellent business strategy capability and well established business
connections in the Asia Pacific region. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen has
over 20 years of management experience in Fortune 100 companies
in Australia, Hong Kong and the PRC, assisting in enterprises with
their business transformation and growth.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai ("Mr. Tsoi"), aged 63, is an independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
C&B Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai
was appointed as Director on 7 April 2021.

Mr. Yuen obtained a Bachelor's degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong in November 1981. Mr. Yuen was
also granted the Diploma in Business Management by the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in August 1987. Furthermore, he received a
degree of Master of Science (Finance) from the National University
of Ireland in October 1999. In April 2007, Mr. Yuen was certified as
a Financial Risk Manager (FRM®) by the Global Association of Risk
Professionals, and was qualified as a Chartered Financial Analyst
(CFA) of CFA Institute in September 2008. In September 2017, Mr.
Yuen was certified as a Chartered Valuer and Appraiser (CVA) by the
Singapore Accountancy Commission.

Mr. Yuen has had over 10 years of experience in the field of valuation.
From September 2013 to May 2017, Mr. Yuen served as one of the
independent non-executive directors of Finsoft Financial Investment
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 8018). Since July 2014, Mr. Yuen has been appointed as
the director of Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited to oversee
its valuation business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating the
elements of good corporate governance into the management
structures and internal control procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability to the Shareholders as a whole.
The Board strives to uphold good corporate governance and adopt
sound corporate governance practices continuously in the interest
of Shareholders to enhance the overall performance of the Group.
The Company has adopted and complied with the principles and
applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code") contained in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the Year except for the following deviations.

(a)  Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEQ") should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Being aware of the said deviation from code provision A.2.1,
but in view of the current rapid development of the Group,
the Board believes that with the support of the management,
vesting the roles of both chairman and CEO by Mr. Chan
Sek Keung, Ringo can facilitate execution of the Group's
business strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation.
In addition, under the supervision by the Board which consists
of three independent non-executive Directors, the interests
of the Shareholders will be adequately and fairly represented.
The Company will seek to recomply with code provision
A.2.1 by identifying and appointing a suitable and qualified
candidate to the position of the CEQ in future; and

(b) Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that
independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors should attend general meetings
and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Some independent non-executive Directors
were not able to attend the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 14 May 2021 due to their respective
business engagements. Other Board members who attend the
aforesaid annual general meeting were already of sufficient
calibre and number for answering questions raised by the
Shareholders at the relevant general meeting.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS' SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. On specific
enquiries made, all Directors confirmed that they complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2021 and at the date of this report, the Board
comprised four executive Directors, one non-executive Director
and three independent non-executive Directors. The composition of
the Board as at 31 December 2021 and the date of this report are as
follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ"))
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO)
Mr. Liu Chun Fai
Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(with his former name of Wong Tat Wai, Derek)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021)

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021)

Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021)

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund (Retired on 14 May 2021)

The biographical details of all Directors are set out in pages 32 to
37 of this report. Save as disclosed herein, to the best knowledge of
the Company, there is no other financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among the members of the Board.

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The Board brings a variety of experiences and expertise to the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

Functions of the Board

The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee all major matters
of the Group, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, considering and approving overall development strategies,
financial objectives, annual budget, investment proposals,
monitoring and controlling the operation and financial performance,
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and to

assume the responsibilities of corporate governance of the Group.

Board meetings and Board practices

During the Year, the Board held 19 meetings, including 4 regular
Board meetings. Apart from the Board meetings, the Board has
passed 4 written resolutions. The Directors can attend meetings
in person or through other means of electronic communication in
accordance with the New Bye-laws. The company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) will assist the chairman of
the Board to prepare the agenda of the meeting and all Directors
have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for the Board
meetings. Notices of at least 14 days for regular Board meetings
are given to the Directors and Board procedures in compliance
with the Articles of New Bye-laws, as well as relevant rules and
regulations. The Directors are provided with relevant materials
relating to the matters brought before the meetings. All Directors
have separate and independent access to the senior management
and the Company Secretary at all time and will be able to seek
independent professional advice at the Company's expenses. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring the procedures
of the Board meetings are observed and providing the Board with
opinions on matters in relation to the compliance with the procedures
of the Board meetings. All minutes of Board meetings were recorded
in sufficient details of the matters considered by the Board and the
decisions reached.

During the Year, a meeting between the chairman of the Board and
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executives or other representatives of the Group was held to discuss
issues that they wish to raise at the Board.
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(1)

(2)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEEARS
Board Meetings (1) E5893
The numbers of the Board meetings held and the attendances RAFE EEHZETEERTHEE
of each Director at the Board meetings for the Year have been EEHEESEERIBEREFIUWT ¢
set out as follows:
No. of Board meetings held: EEHEEEERRY: 19
Name of the Directors E5UY
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CE0) ~ [RS3&5EAE (L /EFARH) 13/19
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO) TE T (BIHEH) 12/19
Mr. Lu Chengye B SE 18/19
Mr. Liu Chun Fai BEEEAE 18/19
Non-executive Director EMITES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek FraELE 18/19
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIEMITES
Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021) BRMBLEE W _—FA B +NRERDT 13/13
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen BRERIEE 18/19
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021) RIBIAEE W B _—FNALHEEM 15/15
Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021) &= R®R&EE (R - —FMA L HEHT) 44
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund =EEBERE
(Retired on 14 May 2021) RZZBZ—FHA+MHHED 5/5
General Meeting (2) REXE
The number of general meeting held and the attendance of RAEFE BEEHZIREAERHEREZE
each Director at the general meeting for the Year have been set EHEREAG ZBERHEHIUT !
out as follows:
No. of general meeting held: EERKRRAERH : 3
Name of the Directors EENY
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO) — [RS53&5c4 (£ /E F#AR#H) 2/3
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEQ) TEL+ (BIAEZ) 0/3
Mr. Lu Chengye e 0/3
Mr. Liu Chun Fai BEEEEE 3/3
Non-executive Director EMITES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek FrafELE 0/3
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFRITER )
Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021) BARMBLEE W _—FAB+URERT) 2/2
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen EKIRITE 0/3
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021) RBMSE (W B —FOBtHEZR®D 3/3
Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021)  ERMREE W= —FMNA T HEHD) N/A (Note)
B (MTEE)
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund BEHRERE N/A (Note)
(Retired on 14 May 2021) R —FHA+UHRDT B (MIET)
Note: Mr. Huang Liangkuai resigned as independent Non-executive Wizt BERMLENR —E-_—FIF+ HEFTHE
Director as at 7 April 2021 and Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund UIFRITEE MERELLEN ZE - —
retired on 14 May 2021 (the most recent annual general meeting FFHAIIE (EATRIRIR FEFA G
was held on 14 May 2021). E-—F A F1IIHET) BIE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Directors’ appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years, all are subject to termination in accordance with
the provisions of the service contract or by either party giving the
other not less than three months' prior written notice.

By virtue of article 102(B) of the New Bye-laws, Directors shall have
the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as
a Director either to fill a casual vacancy of the Board or as an addition
to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 99 of the New Bye-
laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have played a crucial role in
the Board by providing their independent judgment at the Board
meeting and scrutinising the Group's performance. Their views
carry significant weight in the Board's decision, in particular, they
bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the Group's strategy,
performance and control. All independent non-executive Directors
possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board. The independent non-executive Directors
provide independent advice on the Group's business strategy,
results and management so that all interests of the Shareholders
will be taken into account, and the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders can be protected.
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In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Board consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
representing not less than one-third of the Board, among the three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. David Tsoi, possessing
appropriate professional qualification in accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The Company has received the annual written confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on
such confirmations, considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen and
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai, are independent and they all meet the specific
independence guidelines as set outin Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Chairman and CEO

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of chairman
and CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Being aware of the said deviation from code
provision A.2.1, but in view of the current rapid development of the
Group, the Board believes that with the support of the management,
vesting the roles of both chairman and CEQO by Mr. Chan Sek Keung,
Ringo can facilitate execution of the Group's business strategies
and boost effectiveness of its operation. In addition, under the
supervision by the Board which consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, the interests of the Shareholders will
be adequately and fairly represented. The Company will seek to
recomply with code provision A.2.1 by identifying and appointing a
suitable and qualified candidate to the position of the CEO in future.
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Delegation of powers

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, administration and
management of the Group's businesses to the CEO, executive
Directors, senior management and certain specific responsibilities
to the Board committees of the Company. It is the job of the Board
to determine the objectives of the Company and it is the job of the
executives and senior management to decide the means by which
those objectives are best achieved within rules of conduct and limits
of risk that are set by the Board. When the Board delegates aspects
of its management and administration functions to members of
the management team, it gives clear directions as to the powers
of management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where the management team needs to report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The delegated functions and
work tasks are regularly reviewed.

Continuous professional development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in a programme of continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging and
funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the Directors.

During the Year, the Company had arranged to provide to all Directors
with the “Guidelines for Directors” and the “Guide for Independent
Non-executive Directors” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

The Company also updated the Directors and senior management
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. In particular, training sessions covering topics
including the CG Code and the disclosure of inside information had
been held during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of the RIFEZEZRMIEE EFNAFEEMZEZHE
training received by the Directors for the Year is as follows: Atatan T
Attending
training/
Reading briefing
materials sessions
Name of Directors HEEERE
ERit4 REME ke
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO) 88538554 (Z/E#4E#) v v
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO) TELT FHE) 4 4
Mr. Lu Chengye FRRESRE v 4
Mr. Liu Chun Fai BEBLE v v
Non-executive Director FERTES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek ey v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIEHITES
Mr. David Tsoi BAMAE
(Appointed on 14 May 2021) MW_E_—FHB+MH
BT 4 4
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen BKERSE v v
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai RABRAE
(Appointed on 7 April 2021) M_E_—FMAtHEZD v v
Mr. Huang Liangkuai BRREE
(Resigned on 7 April 2021) MZZZ—FMBt HEHD v N/ARER
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund EERERE
(Retired on 14 May 2021) M2 —FhHB+MERED v N/ATREF
/: Completed Ve
Liability insurance for directors %5%&@[“’

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient insurance
coverage on directors' liabilities in respect of legal actions taken
against Directors arising out of corporate activities since 31 March
2015.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established (i) the audit committee of the Company
(the "Audit Committee”); (ii) the compensation and benefits
committee of the Company (the “C&B Committee"”); and (iii)
the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee"), with defined terms of reference. The latest versions of
the terms of reference of the Board committees which explain their
respective role and the authority delegated to them by the Board are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company.
The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice and other assistance in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

ARBEB_ZE—HAF=-ZA=1+—HEBESE
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Audit Committee

Composition

The Company established the Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of Directors passed on 25 October 2010 in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee has set
up the written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March
2012 and further revised on 26 November 2015 and 1 January 2019.
The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal
of external auditors, review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting at least at half-year intervals,
and oversee the risk management policies and internal control
procedures of the Group constantly. The Audit Committee currently
consists of three members, namely, Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Lu, Brian
Yong Chen and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. David Tsoi currently serves as the
chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Huang Liangkuai resigned as
a member on 7 April 2021 and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai was appointed as
a member on 7 April 2021. Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund stepped
down as Chairman on 14 May 2021 and Mr. David Tsoi was appointed
as Chairman on 14 May 2021. The Audit Committee has adopted
the terms of reference which are in line with the applicable code
provisions in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2021, the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and this report.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings to make
recommendation on the re-appointment of external auditors, review
financial statements, financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control systems of the Company. And the attendances
of each Audit Committee member for the Year have been set out as
follows:

No. of Audit Committee meetings held:

Name of the Audit Committee members
Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021)
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021)
Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021)
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund

(Retired on 14 May 2021)

= KERSEE

HBELE
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C&B Committee

Composition

The Company established the C&B Committee pursuant to a
resolution of Directors passed on 25 October 2010 in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. The C&B Committee has set up
with written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March 2012.
The primary duties of the C&B Committee are to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Company. The compensation and remuneration of all Directors
and senior management of the Company are subject to regular
review by the C&B Committee to ensure that the levels of their
compensation and remuneration are appropriate and none of the
Directors determine their own remuneration. The C&B Committee
currently consists of four members, namely, Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen,
Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (all are independent non- executive
Directors) and Mr. Liu Chun Fai (an executive Director). Mr. Lu, Brian
Yong Chen currently serves as the chairman of the C&B Committee.
Mr. Huang Liangkuai resigned as a member on 7 April 2021 and Mr.
Yuen Shiu Wai was appointed as a member on 7 April 2021. Mr. Wong
Chun Sek, Edmund retired as a member on 14 May 2021 and Mr.
David Tsoi was appointed as a member on 14 May 2021.

During the Year, the C&B Committee held 3 meetings to review and
make recommendation on the remuneration policy and structure
relating to Directors and senior management of the Company. And
the attendances of each C&B Committee member for the Year have
been set out as follows:
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EREFASREEEZBEHFNBRRRE
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BHMEkFMOBEHFINRENZE S EHR
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ERMEESEBTEE B SN - #ilxEF
ZECHAAMNBAEEMN  SEaKEREE
BRMSRE REBMEE (ﬁ%é%ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁ%%)
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REFE FHFNRENZEGER=RGE
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BUFMIERLZZ s FEESHMREBINEZEE
FREHFEZBERAT :

No. of C&B Committee meetings held: EEHHFNAENZESEERE - 3
Name of C&B Committee members N RENEZEERERS
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen =KERFTE 3/3
Mr. Liu Chun Fai BEEEAE 2/3
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021) RIBBEE R _—FNE+HESDT 2/2
Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021) BARMERE
M2 —FHATHAEZRD 11
Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021) BR®REYE W2 —FMOBtHHD mnm
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund =BBELE
(Retired on 14 May 2021) MRZZZ—FAHB+HHEEMD 1/
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Remuneration policy for Directors and senior management
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is determined
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the C&B
Committee, having regard to the Company's operating results,
individual performance, experience, responsibility, workload and
time devoted to the Company and comparable market statistics.
Each of the executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary which is
reviewed annually. In addition, each of the executive Directors may
receive a discretionary bonus as the Board may recommend. Such
amount has to be approved by the C&B Committee.

In addition, the Company maintained share option schemes. The
purposes of the share option schemes are to enable the Company
to grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the
Group to recruit and retain high caliber employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group and any invested entity. One
of the share option scheme expired in October 2020 and followed by a
new share option scheme adopted on 23 June 2021.

Nomination Committee

Composition

The Company established a nominating and corporate governance
committee pursuant to a resolution of Directors passed on 25
October 2010 (which was renamed as Nomination Committee on
22 March 2012). The Nomination Committee has set up the written
terms of reference which was revised on 22 March 2012, and was
further revised on 28 August 2013 and 1 January 2019. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board on a regular basis and to recommend to
the Board the suitable candidates for Directors after consideration of
the nominees' independence and quality in order to ensure fairness
and transparency of all nominations. The Nomination Committee
currently consists of three members, namely Mr. Lu, Brian Yong
Chen, Mr. David Tsoi and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (all are independent
non-executive Directors). Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen currently serves
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Huang Liangkuai
resigned as a member on 7 April 2021 and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai was
Mr. Wong Chun Sek,
Edmund retired as a member on 14 May 2021 and Mr. David Tsoi was

appointed as a member on 7 April 2021.

appointed as a member on 14 May 2021.
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The Nomination Committee adopted the board diversity policy in
August 2013. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy, selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of
the Board, the Nomination Committee would follow the nomination
policy and consider factors including:

(a) Reputation;

(b) Skills, knowledge, experience, cultural and educational
background, gender, age and other qualities required, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board;

(c) The extent to which the proposed candidate is likely to
contribute to the overall effectiveness of the Board and work
constructively with the existing Directors;

(d) The skills and experience that the proposed candidate brings
to the role and how he/she will enhance the efficiency and
performance of the Board as a whole;

(e) The nature of existing positions served by the proposed
candidate including directorships or other relationship with the
Company and/or its Directors and impact they may have on his/
her ability to exercise independent judgment; and

(f)  Factors which may affect the proposed candidate's time
commitment to the Company.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to
nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board. And the
attendances of each Nomination Committee member for the Year
have been set out as follows:

REFE RREZEEEHMAERURNES
EHRB - RERAEAN FAFERRLEZEEN
BHREZEREIWNT -

No. of Nomination Committee meetings held: EEHRLEZETEERE 2
Name of the Nomination Committee members RLZEEHEEH
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen =R 2/2
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021) RBREE M2 —FUETHEZMD il
Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021) BARMESRE N/A (Note)
MRZE—FHB+HHEZD FE A (P ET)
Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021) BERREYE W2 —FMAtHHD il
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund =EEELE
(Retired on 14 May 2021) (RZE—FHB+NBEMD 1/1

Note: Mr. David Tsoi was appointed as independent Non-executive Director
as at 14 May 2021 (the most recent nomination committee meeting was
held on 14 May 2021).

Corporate governance functions

The Company's corporate governance functions are carried out by
the Board pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by
the Board in compliance with code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code,
which include (a) to develop and review the Company's policies and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management
of the Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d)
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the
Directors; and (e) to review the Company's compliance with the
applicable CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for
the preparation of the Group's financial statements for each financial
year which shall give a true and fair view of the financial position,
performance and cash flows of the Group for that year. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable
and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The Board is not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Company's external auditors, BDO
Limited, on the financial statements are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditors’ Report” in this report.

External auditors' remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid or payable to the Company's external
auditors in respect of their audit and non-audit services were as
follows:

Type of Services BR#5 48R
Audit services ZE RS
Non-audit services* IR AR TS
Total #ast

* including the fees for tax compliance services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial
services provider, Link Corporate Services Limited (the “Link"), to
provide compliance and full range of company secretarial services
to the Company in order to assist the Company to cope with the
changing regulatory environment and to suit different commercial
needs. Mr. Fung Siu Kei ("Mr. Fung”), the representative of Link, was
appointed as the named Company Secretary since 1 October 2019.

Mr Fung has over ten years of professional experience in public
accounting and auditing, and had previously served in international
audit firm and acted as company secretary for a Hong Kong listed
company. Mr. Fung is a practicing member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accounts. Mr. Fung obtained a degree of bachelor of
business administration in accountancy from the City University of
Hong Kong in 2007.

The financial controller of the Company is the primary point of
contact at the Company with the Company Secretary.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has access to
the advice and services of Mr. Fung at all time in accordance with
Code Provision F.1.4 of Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange (“the Listing Rules”). Mr.
Fung has taken no less than 15 hours of professional training during
the Year under review pursuant to the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

In accordance with the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a
general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely
to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show
of hands. Therefore, all votes of the Shareholders at general
meetings shall be taken by poll. The results of voting by poll will be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company
respectively.

How Shareholders can convene a special general meeting
and put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings
Pursuant to article 62 of the New Bye-laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary by mail at Room 1201, 12/F, C C Wu Building, 302-308
Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may put forward their proposals or inquiries to
the Board by sending their written request to the Company's
correspondence address in Hong Kong.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

Since the change of domicile with effect from 7 July 2021, the
changes in the Company's constitutional documents have been
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with Shareholders and investors
of the Company. The Board also recognises that effective
communication with investors is the key to establish investor
confidence and to attract new investors. Therefore, the Group
is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to
ensure that the investors and the Shareholders receiving accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the
publication of annual reports, interim reports, announcements and
circulars. The Company also publishes all corporate correspondence
on the Company's website at http://www.investech-holdings.com.
The Board continues to maintain regular dialogues with institutional
investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed of the
Group's strategy, operations, management and plans. The Directors
and the members of the Board committees would attend and are
available to answer questions at general meetings of the Company.
Separate resolutions would be proposed at general meetings of the
Company on each substantially separate issue.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the Year, the Board complied with the code provisions on
risk management and internal control as set out in the CG Code.
The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The procedures and feature of the Group's risk management and

internal control systems are as follows:

For risk management

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.
Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

For internal control

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed.

Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.

The management of the Company has established a set of

comprehensive policies, standards and procedures in areas of

operational, financial and risk controls for safeguarding assets

against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper

accounting records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial

information to achieve a satisfactory level of assurance against the

likelihood of the occurrence of fraud and errors.
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The Board has overseen the Company’'s risk management and

internal control systems on an ongoing basis. A year end review
of the effectiveness of the Company's and its subsidiaries’ risk
management and internal control systems has been conducted
annually and the systems are considered to be effective and
adequate. The Company also has an internal audit function to carry
out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the systems, and has procedures in place to keep
information confidential and manage actual or potential conflicts of
interest. Stringent internal structures have been designed to prevent
the misuse of inside information and avoid conflicts of interest.

The Group has established systems and procedures for
disseminating inside information as defined under the Securities and
Future Ordinance (the "SF0") so as to ensure inside information is
promptly identified and escalated. Directors and management of the
Group have received relevant trainings to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information is
efficiently and consistently made.
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The Directors are pleased to submit herewith this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (the "Year").

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room 1201, 12/F, CC
Wu Building, 302-308 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the Year, the Group was mainly engaged in the provision
of network system integration including the provision of network
infrastructure solutions, network professional services and smart
office software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is included in
the sections of Chairman’s Statement, Financial Summary and
Management Discussion and Analysis which are set out in pages 5 to
31 of this report and the paragraphs below.

The Group complies with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the SFO for the disclosure of
information and corporate governance. The Group also complies with
the requirements of Employment Ordinance and ordinances relating
to occupational safety for the interest of employees of the Group. No
important business event affecting the Group has occurred since the
end of the financial year under review up to the date of this report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group promotes environmental protection by raising the
employees’ awareness of resources saving and efficient use of
energy. In recent years, the Group has implemented several policies
to encourage employees for saving energy and paper. All these
policies aim at reducing resources and saving costs which are
beneficial to the environment and meet the commercial goals of the
Group.

For further information about the environment policies and
performance of the Company during the Year, please refer to
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules to be published
by the end of April 2022 and will be available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and of the Company accordingly.

KEY RISK FACTORS
The following lists out the key risks and uncertainties facing the
Group:

Impact of Local and International Regulations

The business operation of the Group is subject to government
policies, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with applicable rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension of
the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely monitors
changes in government policies, regulations and markets as well as
conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in
parts of business to improve performance and efficiency of the
Group. While gaining the benefits from external service providers,
management realises that such operational dependency may
pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in
service including reputation damage, business disruption and
monetary losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group only
engages reputable third party providers and closely monitors their
performance.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the accomplishment of the employees by
providing comprehensive benefit package, career development
opportunities and internal training appropriate to individual needs.
The Group provides a healthy and safe workplace for all employees.
No strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents are found
in the year under review.

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to
meet our customers’ needs in an effective and efficient manner.
Each department works closely to make sure the tendering
and procurement process is conducted in an open, fair and just
manner. The Group's requirements and standards are also well-
communicated to suppliers before the commencement of a project.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through
various means and channels, including usage of business intelligence
to understand customer trends and needs and regular analysis on
customer feedback. The Group also conducts comprehensive tests
and checks to ensure that only quality products and services are
offered to the customers.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Directors consider that the declaration, payment and amount
of the dividend shall be subject to the status of the Group's future
development. The Board does not recommend any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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CONVERTIBLE BOND

Details of movements in the Company's convertible bond are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of the
convertible bond agreement entered into during the Year are set out
below:

On 26 November 2021, the Company issued a convertible bond
with principal amount of HK$30,000,000 (the “Convertible Bond")
to Smoothly Global Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (the "BVI") with limited liability and is 70%
and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang
respectively, for settlement and discharge of the consideration
in accordance with the sale and purchase agreement dated 23
September 2021 in respect of the acquisition of 25% equity interest
in Fortune Grace Management Limited, a company incorporated in
BVI with limited liability. Details of the Convertible Bonds are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 23 September 2021,
18 October 2021, 29 October 2021 and 19 November 2021, and the
circular of the Company dated 2 November 2021.

The Convertible Bond has an initial conversion price of HK$1.50
per conversion share. The Convertible Bond bears interest on the
outstanding principal amount at the rate of 1.5% per annum, payable
on a semi-annual basis in arrears, and will mature on the three years
from the date of issue.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of
dividends to Shareholders after considering the Company's ability to
pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things, its actual
and expected financial performance, its current and future business
operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements, contractual and
regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board has complete discretion
on whether to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval,
where applicable. Even if the Board decides to recommend and
pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon
its actual financial performance, its current and future business
operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements, contractual and
regulatory restrictions of and affecting the Group. The Board may
also consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in
addition to the interim and/or final dividends. The Company would
review and reassess the dividend policy and its effectiveness on a
regular basis or as required.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company's reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda, amounted to
approximately RMB170.9 million as at 31 December 2021. Such
amount includes the Company's share premium, contributed surplus
and capital reserve accounts of approximately RMB928.9 million and
accumulated losses of approximately RMB758.0 million in aggregate
as at 31 December 2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The transfer books and register of members of the Company will to
be closed from 18 May 2022 (Wednesday) to 23 May 2022 (Monday)
(both dates inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. The holders of shares whose name appears on
the register of members of the Company on 23 May 2022 (Monday)
will be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of
the Company (the “Annual General Meeting”). In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 17
May 2022 (Tuesday).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein, no contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or
existed during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group's top five largest customers comprised
approximately 21.7% (2020: 27.2%) of the Group's sales and
the sales attributable to the Group's largest customer were
approximately 6.3% of the Group's sales. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group's top five largest suppliers comprised
approximately 46.2% (2020: 42.8%) of the Group's purchases for the
year and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier
were approximately 30.6% of the Group's purchases for the year.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders owning more than 5% of the
Company's issued shares capital had any interest in the share capital
of any of the top five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 252 of this report.

The Group's loss attributable to owners of the parent for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was approximately RMB16.8 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 13
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and
up to the date of this reportinclude:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ"))
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO)
Mr. Liu Chun Fai
Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(with his former name of Wong Tat Wai, Derek)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi (Appointed on 14 May 2021)

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (Appointed on 7 April 2021)

Mr. Huang Liangkuai (Resigned on 7 April 2021)

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund (Retired on 14 May 2021)

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to article 99 of the New Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual, general meeting at least once every three
years. Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (executive Director), Ms. Wang
Fang (executive Director) and Mr. David Tsoi (independent non-
executive director) are the Directors, whom, since their last election,
serve the longest in office, or the Directors otherwise agree between
themselves, shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting and are eligible to offer themselves for re-
election.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years. Each of Mr. Chan Sek Keung,
Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang's current service contract was renewed
on 23 December 2021, Mr. Lu Chengye's current service contract
commenced on 29 May 2019, and Mr. Liu Chun Fai's current service
contract commenced on 1 August 2020.

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek’s (non-executive Director) has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three years, and his
current service contract commenced on 1 August 2019.

Each of Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen and Mr. Yuen Shiu
Wai (all are independent non-executive Directors) has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three years. The
service contact of Mr. David Tsoi commenced on 14 May 2021. Mr. Lu,
Brian Yong Chen's current service contract renewed on 25 June 2021.
The service contract of Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai commenced on 7 April
2021.

All service contracts with Directors are subject to termination, among
others, by giving not less than three month's written notice.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The C&B Committee considers and recommends to the Board
the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the
Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular
monitoring by the C&B Committee to ensure that the levels of
their remuneration and compensation are appropriate. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 37 of
this report.

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGE IN INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change of
information on Directors is as follows:

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 7 April 2021.

Mr. Huang Liangkuai resigned as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 7 April 2021.

Mr. David Tsoi was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 14 May 2021.

Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund retired as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 14 May 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director and a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
i

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ)
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the "Model Code") as follows:

Interest in Shares and underlying shares of the Company

EFEhR E"ﬁﬁ)\éﬁ"ﬂ%ﬁ ~HERARR
RSN ERRXE

RIBZ_—F+A=+—RH EFKFARTIR
SITHRABRARAHEMEREZEZE (EER
58 75 K BR G R B SEXVER) B 17 ~ AERA R (D I (B 1
HEHFTHEARBRE 5 MG RGIEXVEL 557 %8
DEEMEARB RN ERI KA (B1F
RIEZBFRAERAZRERS FRRE
ENEDI AR AR NRBES KBS
RBIEIS2EREFE 2 B CMAERERA
YIRE L HETAEFETIFXZNRETR
(MRESFA)) BN EARRE MMM S
HEWMT

AT D R ABRARR D PRI

Percentage of

Name of Director

BB

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
("Mr. Chan") @I
BB E (TRTE) e

Ms. Wang Fang ("Ms. Wang")2®
ESzEe(ES el

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (“Mr. Liu")®
BERLE (BRE)N®

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek (“Mr. Wong")©

FTRE (2REDY

(L): Long position

Number of
issued ordinary
Shares held/
interested in

Fiish /A ED
ZEET
&1ip BERUE

Capacity

Interest of controlled corporation 16,504,141 (L)

RiEEEED

Interest of controlled corporation®® =

REEEREOY

Beneficial owner 3,741,650 (L)

BEREBA
Beneficial owner =
BEaEEA

Interest of controlled corporation 15,505,841 (L)

RiEEERD

Interest of controlled corporation®® =

REEEREOY

Beneficial owner =

BmEAA

Beneficial owner =

BmBEAA

Beneficial owner =

BanEAA
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Number of
underlying shares
of the Company
held/interested in

Fiish/ RAED
ZERF
HRRNUE

20,000,000 (L)

106,200 (L)

20,000,000 (L)

430,200 (L)

702,000 (L)

702,000 (L)

the issued
share capital
of the Company
(approximate)
LA AT
BE&{TRA
B (#E49)

19.59%

23.74%

4.44%

0.13%

18.41%

23.74%

0.51%

0.83%

0.83%



DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

AND

DEBENTURES (continued)

Interest in Shares and underlying shares of the Company

(conti
Notes:

(1)

Save

nued)

Mr. Chan was deemed to be interested in 36,504,141 Shares,
comprising of (i) 35,505,941 Shares held by Smoothly Global Holdings
Limited by virtue of it being owned as to 70% by Mr. Chan and (ii)
998,200 Shares held by Woodstock Management Limited by virtue of it
being owned as to 100% by Mr. Chan.

Ms. Wang was deemed to be interested in 35,505,941 Shares held by
Smoothly Global Holdings Limited by virtue of it being owned as to 20%
by Ms. Wang.

These Shares are the share options granted to Mr. Chan, Ms. Wang, Mr.
Liu and Mr. Wong under the share option schemes of the Company.

These 20,000,000 Shares represented the total number of Shares which
may be allotted and issued to Smoothly Global upon the exercise of the
conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond for the aggregate
principal amount of HK$30,000,000 at the initial conversion price of
HKS$1.5 per Share. The exercise of the conversion rights attaching to
the Convertible Bond is subject to the terms and conditions thereof,
including the restriction against conversion which would cause the
Company to be in breach of the minimum public float requirement
under the Listing Rules.

The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2021 (i.e. 84,240,000 shares) had been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the
Company.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the

Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to

have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares

or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations

(withi
in the
of the
Excha

n the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ), which had been recorded

register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352
SFO or which had been notified to the Company and the Stock
nge pursuant to the Model Code.
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SEEREETHABRKM HBERG
RERENERRKXE @
EATRGD BRABRARR D PRI (@)

Hiat -
(1) EPAEREEHES Smoothly Global Holdings Limited
2 70%# 5 fzWoodstock Management Limited
Z100%ME % MR E AR 7 7036,504,141
R R #ER # > B23E (i) Smoothly Global
Holdings LimitedFf %75 935,505,941 88 B&% 17 Kz (ii)
Woodstock Management LimitedFfri37/9998,200

BRAR ) °

F 7% £ % #EF Smoothly Global Holdings Limited
220%E 5 M F Z R A Smoothly Global
Holdings LimitedFfr#%7535,505,941 3280 S

TN

fEm o

ZERMBRBEARDBEREAB MRILTE T
L BERERERERLNERE

520,000,0008% B 17 2517 £ 4 A8 §H7330,000,000
AT AR R A A AR R R R R R AR
BERRMN1.5B A # 31T FSmoothly Global
BIRR ) 4B % - 1T FIHR B M B VIR R R B
SEER R BEGERRSI B A ARER
EHRAURBARTREREBIRS

AABIR B2 —F+-_A=+—HEETRH
4820 (BN84,240,0008 12 17) BB LAST A A B B9HE
HMERAD -

BREXAIEBEEN RBE-—F+ZA=+—
B BIEARRNEFURSTHRAEREART R

EAEEREE (& REBSF RS RGIEXVER)
RID - ERERONEEETHEEURSEE DK
BRBERES R ERGSEIS2HFREERERT
FEZELMOEEIRA  WREBRETRIE
MEART) KRB FTEIER KA ©
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
i

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the Year were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director of the Company
or their respective spouses or minor children, or were such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of
the Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Details of the equity-linked agreement entered into during the Year
or subsisting during the Year are set out in the paragraph headed
“"CONVERTIBLE BOND" above and paragraph headed “Share Option
Schemes" below:

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 25 October 2010
(the "Old Share Option Scheme") for the purpose of enabling
the Company to grant options to selected eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high caliber employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any
invested entity. The Old Share Option Scheme was valid and effective
for a period of 10 years from 15 November 2010 after which no
further options would be granted or offered. The Old Share Option
Scheme expired on 24 October 2020.

On 3 May 2021, the Board proposed to adopt a new share option
scheme (the "New Share Option Scheme") upon the approval by the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders"”) at the Company's
extraordinary general meeting held on 23 June 2021 (the "EGM").

On 23 June 2021, the Board announced that the New Share Option
Scheme were duly passed by the Shareholders by poll at the EGM.

The summary of the New Share Option Scheme's principal terms was
set out in Appendix Il of the circular of the Company dated 31 May
2021.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

Eligible participants include the Directors, any employee (whether
full-time or part-time) of the Company, any supplier of goods or
services to, any customer of, and any advisors, consultants, agents
and distributors of any member of the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, 7,020,000 Shares may be issued upon the
exercise of all share options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme, representing 10% of the total of 70,200,000 Shares
in issue on the adoption date (i.e. 23 June 2021). On 13 September
2021, options carrying the rights to subscribe for 6,528,600 Shares
under the New Share Option Scheme have been granted, of which
no share options were exercised and no share options were forfeited
or lapsed and 6,528,600 share options were outstanding (entitling
holders thereof to subscribe for up to a total of 6,528,600 Shares,
representing approximately 7.75% of the total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2021). No option may be granted to any
eligible participant of the New Share Option Scheme such that the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month
period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company's
issued share capital from time to time. For details of the grant of
share options aforementioned, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 13 September 2021 and 21 September 2021.

Apart from the New Share Option Scheme, the Company also granted
share options under the Old Share Option Scheme which expired
on 24 October 2020. As at 31 December 2021, 396,000 Shares may
be issued pursuant to the Old Share Option Scheme, representing
approximately 0.47% of the total number of issued Shares as at 31
December 2021.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available for
issue under the Old Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option
Scheme are 6,924,600, representing approximately 5.91% of the
issued share capital of the Company in issue as at that date (after
taking into account of the Capital Reorganisation became effective
on 28 July 2021, the First Placing completed on 6 September 2021
and the Second Placing completed on 11 March 2022).
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WERARRE  UKBAEREIAKE QTR
HERFRFNEAEER BENETATE K
EABHA R REBER Do

N ZEZ—F+ZA=1+—HB  REMBRRE
SRR FIRHNFT B R ETEMm A REEETT
7,020,000 B85 15 IRMBE BN =22 = —
FHRBZ+=R) 287K {H4%(70,200,000%
0% - RIEZ—FHLBE+=H BiREME
REREST B A #EF ] 30 886,528,600 % B% 19
BB RG #E > HAp W T A B AR R T T U
ERERESRBNRAM RITEBREHES
6,528,60017 (FHFHE A B B HELR56,528,600
BEROG WER B2 —F+B=+—HE
BITRMARBNT.T5%) 1T EM T RE AR # 5t
BEAEER2EATEERFRHENERRE
BENHERABREZBIEEA+ @R HE
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PRETEEIG ST RSN ARBINBBEER ZE S
FHAZ+HBAIBNEBRESIRLER
RN _EZ—F+_A=+—H REEEBR
HESHBIPT BEE517396,000/2 R (D 1E & ——
F+__A=1+—HEZETRHBENL0.47%-

RARESEE ERRES S RN BERESE
BTRAHETHRDAEE56,924,60008 > (5K
NEINRZE B ETRANN5.91% @&tk
T —EtA -+ /\BEMWRASH RS
T—FNAAAREHERNE—REEFTERRCZ
ZTF-A+—HERNEZXREESEE) o
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by
the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised.

Participants of the New Share Option Scheme are required to pay
the Company HK$1.00 upon acceptance of the grant on the offer
date. The exercise price of the options is determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the
highest of:

(a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheet on the date of the grant, which must be a
trading day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheet for the five (5) trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

(c) the parvalue of a Share on the date of grant.
The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a

period of 10 years from 23 June 2021 after which no further options
will be granted or offered.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)
Movements of the Old Share Option Scheme during the Year

R FEEREREEEE

Balance Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Balance
asat during during during during asat Exercise
1January  thereporting thereporting  thereporting  thereporting 31 December Price Exercise
List of Grantees 2021 period period period period  Adjustment 2021 HKS  Dateof grant Period
RIB_-%
f2RT-F RESHM REBEER RESEA RESHEA +2R i@ :
ARARE —R-R&# it 1 x4 it St-RER An  RYA# e
Directors
g2
Chan Sek Keung, 720,000 - - - - (684,000) 36,000 360 2511012016 25/102016-
Ringo (Note 1) (Note 3) 25/10/2026
Ri% (1) (H3) (Note2)
Wz2)
Wang Fang 7,200,000 - - - - (6,840,000 360,000 30 2511012016 25/102016-
1% (Note 1) (Note 3) 251012026
Wiz Wi3) (Note2)
W)
Total 1,920,000 - - - - (7,524,000 39,000
i3t (Note4) (Note4)
(i) (Hite)
Notes: Fiat

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the
date on which the options were granted was HK$1.73.

KABRMUWHEREEBRERL BBAAS
1.73% 7T

2. Up to 40% of the options granted (the “First Options”) are exercisable 2. BZ40%EERZERE (SHERE) IR =
during the period from 25 October 2016 to 25 October 2026 (both —RNE+RE+RAEE-_AE+HA-+EAH
days inclusive) (the “First Period"); up to 30% of the options granted (BiEEEMmA) Bl (EHtEm) B17E; 8
(the "Second Options”) (together with the First Options to the extent Z30%EERBERE (TE ZHERE) ERR
the same has not been exercised during the First Period, as the case EHEAERETE SHERE RIERTE) I
may be) are exercisable during the period from 25 October 2017 to RIZ2—tF+AZ+HEHEZZEZRE+A
25 October 2026 (both days inclusive) (the “Second Period"); up to “+EHE (BEEEMA) A (S THUEAR)) &
30% of the options granted (the “Third Options") (together with the 1716 ; RZ30%BEERBERE (TE=HEEREL)
First Options and the Second Options to the extent they have not been (ERPERPERE IR RETEZ it
exercised during the First Period and the Second Period, as the case BRERE_MBRE RBERME) IR _E
may be) are exercisable during the period from 25 October 2018 to 25 —N\FF+E+RHEZZE-ARFE+AZ+EH
October 2026 (both days inclusive) (the “Third Period"). (BiEEREMA) Al (TE=HEHEAM)) BT

3. Due to the Share Consolidation in 2021, the exercise price of the share 3. E_Z_—EMRMPEH BR_Z—XRE+AH
options granted on 25 October 2016 was adjusted from HK$1.7 to “_+EAREBREZITEEDSE1.TETH
HKS$34.0. BEA3L.0BTT 0

4. The share options continue to be capable of exercise during the 4.  1RIRESEEARIESH 8 R 4% A RABE AR B UK RN

prescribed period in accordance with the Old Share Option Scheme and
the terms during the time of granting such share options.

EREDNAIIIEERERTE
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued) EEEMATGE @
Share Option Schemes (continued) fEie st (@)
Movements of the New Share Option Scheme during the Year REFETERIENZIEE)
Balance Balance
asat ENC Exercised Lapsed Cancelled asat
1 January during during during during  31December  Exercise Price
List of Grantees 2021 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2021 HKS  Dateofgrant Exercise Period
RZEZ-F
RIE - : +ZB=1-H 1@
ARALE -B-B&H REEERE REEERE  REEEXN  REEEES i AT sk hicd
Directors
%
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo = 70,200 = = = 70,200 1.486 139201 13/9/201-
Rk (Note 1) 121912025
(1) (Note?)
W)
Wang Fang = 70,200 = = = 70,200 1.486 13912001 13/9/201-
I3 Note 1) 121912025
(1) (Note?)
W#2)
Liu Chun Fai = 702,000 = = = 702,000 1.486 131912001 13/9/201-
BEE (Wote 1) 120912025
(1) (Note?)
W#2)
Wang Tsu Wai, Derek = 702,000 = = = 702,000 1.486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-
Ry Note 1) 121912025
iz1) (Note2)
W)
Substantial Shareholder
IERR
TinYat Yu, Carol = 70,200 = = = 70,200 1.486 131912001 13/9/201-
B4 (Note 1) 120912025
(1) (Note?)
W#2)
Other participants (Note 3) = 4,914,000 = = = 4,914,000 1.486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-
Et 88T W3) Note 1) 121912025
iz1) (Note2)
W)
Total = 6,528,600 = = = 6,528,600
f3t
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued)
Movements of the New Share Option Scheme during the Year

(continued)
Notes:

1. The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the
date on which the options were granted was HK$1.40.

2. 50% of the share options are exercisable from 13 September 2021 to
the end of the validity period (i.e. 12 September 2025) (both dates
inclusive); and 50% of the share options are exercisable from 13
September 2022 to the end of the validity period (i.e. 12 September
2025) (both dates inclusive).

(3)  Other participants refer to one supplier of services and six consultants
of the Group who have contributed to the Group in different aspects.
These participants possess extensive experiences, business network
and market connections in their particular sectors which, through
cooperation with these participants, the Group will be able to utilise
their expertise, network and connections to accomplish the long-term
growth and profitability of the Group.

During the Year, no share options were exercised, lapsed or cancelled
under the New Share Option Scheme.

RN ()
FiREE (B
RIFERBR A DED ()

Wit

1. ARBERNEHEREZEREEEDNAS
1.407B7Te

2. S0%MERETR_Z_—FhAt+=HiEA
MWEBEAR BN ZZ2ZAFEAA+ZH) (BFEERE
M B) HARSTE ; R50%ERET N T ==
NWB+=ZHEZEXHBR BIZEZHENA
+ZH) (BEEREMA) PEiTE.

(3) Hth2EALTHERTREEAAEBREHEMD
FEEN—BRBEEE R BEL - ZE2H
ATREBEREHEAEEER BERERKD
BAR AEBBBEZESEALIHNEE &
BESHIRI AR E C EXNH B RARBRAE
EHRAAE RKREFMEES

RAEFE  MBERESSETHERRECET
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E5gHRYE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND FERRI AR B A8 BA AR 19 B9 2 T 3¢
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING =

SHARES

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the FIERNEFTHARTARBITHRAEMM R-F
Company, as at 31 December 2021, the persons or corporations _——F+ZB=+—H > RAREKRH RBREK

(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had 7 REAR@m I X B MARERF KA HEM
interest or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the ~ SEXVE552/&%3 70 BIFX A4 A B M EE > LB L
Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under RiREBFEF R HRAIE336EBEFEZE LM

the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which ~ BIA L ZUEE (EFHARABRSITHRAERKRIN
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of ~ ¥01°F :

the SFO were as follows:

Number of Number of Percentage of
issued ordinary underlying the issued
shares of the shares of the share capital of
Company held/ Company held/ the Company
Name of Substantial Shareholders  Capacity interested in interested in (approximate)
e/ BERD  RA/ AR fEAAE
FAREHT P YNGIE L BE{TRA
TERRES g4 LER¥E RIHE BAL #4)
Smoothly Global Holdings Limited ~ Beneficial owner™ 15,505,941 (L) = 18.41%

(“Smoothly Global") EnkEa Al
Beneficial owner® S 20,000,000 (L) 23.74%

BHEEAY
Woodstock Management Limited Beneficial owner®? 998,200 (L) = 1.18%

("Woodstock Management") BEaEAA?
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol Beneficial owner 9,351,400 (L) S 11.10%

A—fFxt BE@BEAA
Beneficial owner S 70,200 (L) 0.08%
BE@BEAA
(L): Long position (L):F2
Notes: miaE

(1) These 15,505,941 Shares are held by Smoothly Global, a company (1) 515,505,941 %15 HFiSmoothly GlobaliF 5 > %

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is REBNEBERREESTMAIINERAE
70% and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang R85 4 e £ 5 D BIHER 70%5220%
respectively. g

(2)  These 998,200 Shares are held by Woodstock Management, a company ~ (2)  #%5998,2008% & {7 FBWoodstock Management#
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is B ZARAREBERREESSMMAIINER
100% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo. RE] M AR TR ST HER 100%E 5 ©
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(3)  These 20,000,000 Shares represented the total number of Shares which
may be allotted and issued to Smoothly Global upon the exercise of the
conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond for the aggregate
principal amount of HK$30,000,000 at the initial conversion price of
HK$1.5 per Share. The exercise of the conversion rights attaching to
the Convertible Bond is subject to the terms and conditions thereof,
including the restriction against conversion which would cause the
Company to be in breach of the minimum public float requirement
under the Listing Rules.

(4)  The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2021 (i.e. 84,240,000 shares) had been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation (other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company) having an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares which would require to
be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of
not less than 25% of the Company's issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
Save as disclosed in this report, no contract of significance has been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
then controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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(3)  £20,000,00082 B3 15 1T {2 £ 488 430,000,000
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EERRMH1.587TAC 3 K3 17 FSmoothly Global
BIRG 19 4R % o 1T PTHARR B 5 I B R AR 78
SFEMGR G BEH RS R AABIER
L HRAREARERERENRH
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REPORT OLTHE DIRECTORS

BHE

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from
the Group's business, that competes or competed or is or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group's business
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to and
including the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All related party transactions disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements did not constitute connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction of the Company subject to, among
other things, reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The related party transactions under the paragraph headed
"Compensation of key management personnel of the Group” in note
38(e) to the consolidated financial statements were exempted from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.73(6) of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, cash and bank balances (excluding pledged
deposits) of the Group amounted to approximately RMB54.9 million
(2020: approximately RMB76.1 million). Details of such are set out in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMB49.3 million
(2020: approximately RMB48.2 million), among which approximately
RMB29.3 million (2020: approximately RMB41.2 million) was
unsecured and guaranteed by a director of the Company. As at 31
December 2021, the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
of RMB24.9 million (2020: approximately RMB17.6 million) carried
at fixed interest rates and approximately RMB24.4 million (2020:
approximately RMB30.6 million) carried at floating interest rates.
Details of such are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements,
there was no other significant subsequent event undertaken by the
Group subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021,
(2020: 256).
Group is determined on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

the Group employed 285 employees
The emolument policy of the employees of the

competence. The Company adopted the New Share Option Scheme
to provide incentive to its senior management and employees. Please
refer to the paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report
for details of such scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total staff costs
(including directors' remuneration) amounted to approximately
RMB68.8 million (2020: approximately RMB54.4 million). The
Company maintains a New Share Option Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to the eligible participants for their
contributions to the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out in the section of Financial
Summary on pages 9 to 14 of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the New Bye-
Laws or the laws of the Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was continued, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares to existing Shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ES

BHE

WEMKRRER

PR S B B RN AP BN A EER T
——F+ZB=+-BEREEFREAHH
EHMEABEEE-

ANER

N ZEZ—F+ZA=1+—H xEEH#EHF285
LET (CETTH 2564 - KEBERS BN
BRDDRERENRRT - BEERENEE AR
BRI ES D AR EEERESRSE
HE B BN BASRARS TR
BEEL o

BE_Z_—Ft+HA=-t+—HLFE BT
EZZIK (BREEEHD A8 ARK88HET (T

TEF IOARBLLBETT) c ARBREBM
E%Hﬂ%?r%ﬂ BANBMEERSEATRHE
REERNESHAEBFTIFEMZ B R R/ -

AT
FEEBTLEMBREFENEEREELAER
NBEENAREFIFELENBRHE -
B

BEMAHBERE (RRBFEMENEERE
&) ZEBBEERELBREZREUAREA
IR A MR ARR BT

BE -HEBOEARN EHEsF

HE-S-—F+-B=+—HLEE 527
REAEANEAFEBE S NEE A AT
(] L%

77

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R




ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 23 May 2022 (Monday)
and the notice of Annual General Meeting will be published and
despatched to Shareholders in due course.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 have been audited by BDO Limited.

BDO Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Chairman and CEO

Hong Kong
31 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

|IBDO

FEE © +852 2218 8288
{5H : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

BIREEMES

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
FETHEEPI15R
KRHID2518

www.bdo.com.hk

To the Shareholders of Investech Holdings Limited
EEIZERBRAE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of InvesTech
Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group")
set out on pages 89 to 252, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the "Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B BMEmERS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill
Refer to notes 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policies on pages 112 to 114.

As at 31 December 2021, the net carrying amount of the Group's
goodwill amounted to RMB135.0 million.

Based on management's impairment testing, goodwill was allocated
to the network system integration cash-generating unit (“CGU"), and
the recoverable amount of the CGU was determined based on value
in use calculation carried out by an independent professional valuer
using cash flow projections. Significant judgement is involved to
determine the key inputs and assumptions used in the calculation of
value in use of the CGU.
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" INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

We identified impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter because of the management's significant judgement and
high level of estimation uncertainty involved in the determination of
the recoverable amount, and the net carrying amount of goodwill is
significant to the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Our response:

o Evaluated the reasonableness of key inputs and assumptions
used in the cash flow projections, which include budgeted
revenue growth rates, long term growth rate, budgeted gross
margins and discount rate;

L Checked the arithmetic accuracy of the cash flow projections
used in the value in use calculation;

. Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to
goodwill impairment assessment in the consolidated financial
statements; and

o Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent professional valuer used by management.

BRI ZMEMERS

REEZEE @

2R E R (@)

M EEEEEE N B SRR REXH
heEGAEEN mENREFEN &%
WEEMBRRAFEARER HESHHE
REFERES —RRRELEERE

EEIOE :
e HREFEESAERAFMKANIEZEHARE

RBZ QEEERAREE EBEE
E FEENERARE) NSRBI ;

s RYEEREESETMEANEERER
BB AT 2R
s HEAGEMBRERTEMBERENER

BRSEM; &

e HLEEEEMERABILEZEMGEMNE
BBEEN R BB

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —F =

LR



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZHBEMHRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Fair value measurement of an unlisted equity investment
Refer to notes 3, 18 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on page 126.

The Group held an unlisted equity investment as at 31 December
2021, the fair value of which was estimated by management to be
RMBA40.1 million. Such unlisted equity investment was classified as a
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Management engaged an independent professional valuer to
assess the fair value of the above unlisted equity investment as at
31 December 2021. The fair value of the unlisted equity investment
was determined based on a number of valuation techniques and
unobservable inputs, the selection of which requires the exercise of
significant judgement.

We identified fair value measurement of an unlisted equity
investment as a key audit matter because of the significant
judgement and high level of estimation uncertainty involved in the
determination of fair value, and the carrying amount and fair value
change during the year of such investment are significant to the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Our response:

o Evaluated the reasonableness of selection of valuation
techniques, as well as those key assumptions and data used
in the fair value determination of the investment, with the
assistance of our valuation specialist;

o Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to the fair
value measurement of the unlisted equity investment in the
consolidated financial statements; and

e Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the

independent professional valuer used by management and our
valuation specialist.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to notes 3, 21 and 41 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 128 to 130.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had trade receivables, net of loss
allowance for impairment, of RMB195.1 million, which represented
29.8% of the total assets of the Group. Net impairment of these
financial assets amounted to RMB1.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The estimation of expected credit losses (“ECLs") for trade
receivables requires management's significant judgement and
involves high level of estimation uncertainty.

Specific factors, such as ageing of the balances, existence of
disputes, past collection history, historical loss rates, forward-
looking information and any other reasonable and supportable
information available concerning the creditworthiness of
counterparties, would be considered during the estimation.
Management engaged an independent professional valuer to assist
with the estimation of ECLs.

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key
audit matter because of the significant judgement and high level of
estimation uncertainty involved, and the aggregate carrying amount
of the trade receivables is significant to the Group's consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZBEES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Impairment assessment of trade receivables (continued)
Our response:

o Evaluated the appropriateness of estimation techniques used,
as well as the reasonableness of inputs and assumptions
used, to determine the ECLs. This includes assessment on the
groupings of customer categories under the provision matrix
used to estimate the ECL for trade receivables, accuracy
and relevancy of the historical loss rates and whether they
are reasonably adjusted based on recent loss experience
and forward-looking factors specific to the debtors, and the
realisable value of collaterals where appropriate;

e Checked the arithmetic accuracy of the calculation of ECLs;

o Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to the ECL
estimation in the consolidated financial statements; and

o Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent professional valuer used by management.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company's
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZBEES

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

86

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B BMEmERS

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Tang Tak Wah

Practising Certificate no. P06262

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
SAERR

2021
B

RMB'000
AR¥Tx

2020
etk &
RMB'000
ARBT7

(Re-presented)
(KER)

CONTINUING OPERATION FEEEER
REVENUE WA 5 484,598 469116
Cost of sales THE RS (427,490) (417,849)
Gross profit EF] 57,108 51,267
Other income and gains EARA R Wz 5 5,252 6,027
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEFEZ (25,806) (25,942)
Administrative expenses G (54,359) (48,647)
Other expenses, net Hith 2 B8 (100) (516)
Impairment of goodwill BERE 5 = (57,612)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment THEE (HEHR) /
losses of financial assets, net _ BERERLERE (1,136) 71
Finance costs =% 7 (3,007) (2,926)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PR RSR 6 (22,048) (78,278)
Income tax expense PRSI 10 (281) (384)
Loss for the year from continuing operation REFELEEHMN
FEHE (22,329) (78,662)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION B
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued REERIEEEBH
operation EEEN,/ (B58) 1,329 (8,024)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FERHE (21,000) (86,686)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: LUT & 7 FEfh (6518) /& F) -
Owners of the parent SYNSI PN
- From continuing operation —REFEEEXE (18,176) (75,027)
- From discontinued operation —REBERIERS T 1,329 (8,024)
(16,847) (83,051)
Non-controlling interests gD
- From continuing operation —REFEREE (4,153) (3,635)
(21,000) (86,686)
(Re-presented)
(KER)
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 82 F%HB AEESHK
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT (5518) /& 12

From continuing and discontinued operation
- Basic and diluted

REFERCRILEEET
—EARKE#E

(RMB21.03 cents)

(RMB109.18 cents)

(NE#21.0373) (AK109.18%)
From continuing operation REFBECEES

- Basic and diluted —HAKEE (RMB22.69 cents)  (RMB98.63 cents)
(AR 1522.6997) (AR 1£98.637)

From discontinued operation REBRIEEEEE
- Basic and diluted —EAREE RMB1.66 cents (RMB10.55 cents)
AR#1.66% (AE10.55%)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEEENmER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE T —F+_A=+—HUIFE

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that
may be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations
Recycle of exchange differences upon
disposal of foreign operations

Other comprehensive loss that

will not be reclassified to profit or loss

in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of
the Company's financial statements
into presentation currency

Changes in fair value of financial asset

at fair value through other comprehensive

income

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR

Total comprehensive loss
attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

90 InvesTech Holdings Limited & :iZRR B R A F

FEBE

Hith2mukas ~ (5518)

AR ER RS D18
IBMAYE M2
Wz~ (B538) :

BB INHZEFE
PER AR

HH 5 SN B 25 755 e [ L B S22 BA

REZHB AP S D48

BBV E M2 E

[&518 :

MERAB M FHIRE
mEHNEEZ
PERAE%R

B BEEsT A EAM
E2EWEEREEN
RAEEEE

FEEMEEESE

FEEEEHERE

=Vl
EHEEBIEERE
[SYNCIEZZ= DN
JEFE SR

2021 2020
—E_—F BT I
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT
(21,000) (86,686)
26,064 21,848
(657) -
25,407 21,848
(27,083) (24,489)
(70,992) (271,491)
(98,075) (295,980)
(72,668) (274,132)
(93,668) (360,818)
(89,437) (356,994)
(4,231) (3,824)
(93,668) (360,818)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SAMBIRRR

2021 2020
T —ETEHF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment MZE-BEREE 13 1,995 1,044
Right-of-use assets FRESE 14 17,824 2,963
Goodwill 5t 15 134,952 134,952
Other intangible assets HthErEE 16 78,448 98,691
Deferred tax assets FIERIEE & 17 3,718 3,650
Financial asset at fair value through BARBEST AEM
other comprehensive income 2EWENEREE 18 40,086 111,078
Loan receivables W ER 19 - 1,749
Total non-current assets BB EMRE 277,023 354,127
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories E& 20 17,320 12,648
Trade and bills receivables B 5 M ERE R 21 208,047 199,575
Loan receivables FERER 19 1,749 14,783
Interest receivables FEUWHI S - 149
Prepayments, other receivables and FAATRIE ~ HA UL
other assets MIARHEME E 22 55,195 42,916
Equity investment at fair value through BAnBE ABmD
profit or loss BAIEE 23 2,880 999
Debt investment at fair value through BARBES AB@m
profit or loss HNEHKRE 24 12,530 13,055
Pledged deposits [EEiiEEE 25 25,765 6,090
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 25 54,920 76,128
Total current assets MBIBEEEE 378,406 366,343
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
P —F ——Ff+_H=+—HIFE

2021 2020
& EZTEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT AR®T T
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEafE
Trade payables B S RIE 26 174,832 161,709
Contract liabilities =1 =RE 27 25,833 23,284
Other payables and accruals HMENTIEREFTER 28 25,047 35,413
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 8 R1T K& E A& 29 36,347 46,184
Tax payable e IE 14,877 13,196
Total current liabilities BB EAEEE 276,936 279,786
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEEFE 101,470 86,557
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES B EAEREI&E 378,493 440,684
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Contract liabilities aHEaE 27 2,831 3,344
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 8 $R17 & E ik 29 12,921 1,991
Convertible bond AIARES 35 21,672 -
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIEE B 17 11,768 14,805
Total non-current liabilities IERB B ([EAE%R 49,192 20,140
Net assets BEFE 329,301 420,544
EQUITY HEwm
Equity attributable to owners of the parent  BFA B A A FE(GE R
Issued capital BT 30 5,464 188,710
Reserves #E 32 317,286 182,389
322,750 371,099
Non-controlling interests JEPEH R 6,551 49,445
Total equity TR 4B EE 329,301 420,544
On behalf of the board REEEG
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo Liu Chun Fai
PR 758 BEEiE
Director Director
X EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEmEHR

BE_F_—F+ _F=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAREAES

Foreign
Share Share Convertible  Statutory Fair  currency Non-
Issued Share  Contributed option Special award Other  bond equity surplus value  translation Accumulated controlling Total

capital  premium  surplus(e)  reserve reserve(a)  reserve reserve(b) reserve(d) reservelc)  reserve  reserve losses Total  interests equity

gA EBRE RIVER IRk EERR  AARE
BEfTRE RGER  BEE) ffE HRlEfE) i RtEEG) EEERG  BRECO B ERER  RdSE Bt FEHEE  RESR

RMBOO)  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO  RMBOIO  RMBOI
ABRTT ARRTR ARRTr ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARWTR ARRTr ARRTR ARRTR ARETR ARHTR ARRTR

A1 Janary 2071 = 108700 65012 SR 6 2B (147 S0 (Me2) (415 (6SE) AN AMS 05k
Loss for the year EEFR - - - - - - - - - - - (16,867)  (16,847) (6,153)  (21,000)
Other comprehensive incomel loss) for  EEEM2E

the year: W&/ (58

Exchange differences ontranslation  EESNEEH 2 EREE

of foreign operations o © © o o o © o o 2 26,162 o 26,142 (18) 26,064
Exchange differences on translation - EAATHHRRA

of the Company's financial B ERER

statementsinto presentation

currency - - - - - - o o c - () - (0m) - (1,0m3)
Recycleof exchange differences ~ HENEXBREMERZR

upon disposal of foreign

operations - - - - - - - - - - (657) - (657) - (657)
Change in fair value of

afinancial asset at i

fair value through other LAEEED NERE

comprehensive income,

net of tax - = = = = o = = = (10992) O O (10992) = (10992)
Total comprehensive loss ERREFREE

forthe year - - - - - - - - - (10,992) (1,59)  (16847)  (89,437) (6,231)  (93,668)
Cancellation of share premium - (650120 625012 = = = = = = = = =

Capitalreorganisation (note 30(a)) (184,152) - 18182 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Issue of share (note 30(b)) ( 908 13,569 - - - - - - - - - - 164,455 - 14,455
Share ssue expenses (note30(b)) ~ SIAE TR (H30(b)) - (419) - - - - - - - - - - (419) - (419)
Equity-settled share option NEGEE BRE - - - 218 - - - - - - - - 278 - 2743
Contribution from non-controlling REFERERRLE

interests o o o o o o o o o o o e o 1378 1318
Acquisition of non-controlling interest  WEEFE R R = - = = = = 14,256 10,113 = = = = 24369 (46061) (21,672
At31 December 2021 RIFZ-f&

5,464 13,070% 809, 164* 9,047 61,064* 2,073 6763*  0113*  31.062¢  (S9.904)  (11413)*  (S3763)* 322,750 6551 329301
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEmEFR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

AEE =S T - — /5 = S— o) rsim)e=s

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAREE AE(
Foreign Retained
Share Share Statutory Fair  currency profits/ Non-
Issued Share option Special award Other surplus value translation (accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve  reserve(a) reserve reserve(b)  reserve(c) reserve reserve losses) Total interests equity
fElE RS EERE  ARMEE REER/
BEfTRE  RAEE (O] R HtEE) ff(c) fE  EREE  (RHER & FEbEE  EEeE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBBTR ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETR AREBTT ARKTR ARMTR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At1January 2020 RZZ2Z2E-A-H 188,710 625,012 6,304 61,064 2,073 (7,473) 29,282 (217,431) (7,363) 47915 728,093 53,269 781,362
Loss for the year FEFR S = = = = = = = = (83,051) (83,051) (3,635) (86,686)
Other comprehensive income/  SFEEHMIZE
(loss) for the year. Wit/ (6518)
Exchange differenceson  BESNEIXBZERER
translation of foreign
operations = = = = = = = = 22,037 = 22,037 (189) 21,848
Exchange differences BRERRRRBRRS
ontranslation of the 2IERZERER
Company's financial
statementsinto
presentation currency = = o = o = = = (24,489) = (24,489) o (24,489)
Changeinfairvalueof — #ARAEESALM
afinancial asset at PERGNEREEN
fairvalue throughother  AR(BELE) MIHE
comprehensive income,
net of tax - - - - - - - (271,491) - - (211,491) - (211,491)
Total comprehensiveloss ~ FE2EFBEER
for the year - - - - - - - (271,491) (2,452) (83,051) (356,994) (3,824) (360,818)
Transfer from accumulated  ERREHHA
losses - - - - - - 1,780 - = (1,780) = = o
At31 December 2020 St . 2:3
+ZRA=+-H 188,710 625,012 6,304* 61,004* 2,073* (T.473)% 31,062 (488,922)* (9.815)*  (36916)* 371,099 49,445 420,544
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBREBVERAUBRRNRANGS
RMB317,286,000 (2020: RMB182,389,000) in the consolidated HBARK317,286,000c (ZEZZTF: ARK

statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHAngES___IN EQUITY

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Special reserve
The balances as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 mainly represent:

(i) the difference between the nominal amount of the shares issued
by the parent and the aggregate amount of paid-in capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation of the
Company in 2008; and

(ii)  the excess, amounting to RMB13,330,000, of the consideration
paid by the parent for the acquisition of a subsidiary over the
consideration paid by Mr. Chi Shaolin, the then controlling
shareholder of the Company, for the acquisition of the subsidiary
from a third party.

Other reserve

Other reserve arose from acquisitions of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries or disposals of interests in subsidiaries and represents the
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received on
transactions with equity owners in the capacity as equity holders that
result in changes in ownership interests while retaining control.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises
in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"), the Company's PRC
subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund
which is non-distributable. The appropriations to such reserve are
made out of net profit after tax of the statutory financial statements
of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. The statutory surplus reserve fund
can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in
conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue.

Convertible bond equity reserve
Convertible bond equity reserve represents amount of the equity
component of convertible bond issued by the Company.

Contributed surplus

The Company cancelled the entire amount standing to the credit
of the share premium and to transfer the credits arising from such
cancellation to an account designated as the contributed surplus
account of the Company before the change of domicile from the
Cayman Islands to Bermuda becoming effective, i.e. 7 July 2021.

Mt -

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

FEEDEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_E - F=+—HIFFE

LN
B —ER-EEE+RA=+—HZE
BREE4E !

(i) BREMETRANEEEREEAQRRN
“ERN\FETERSEMEERB AR
BHENEZEANELR ; &

(i) BraxlE—TENBABMPRERE
NEERIIERRERBOMAEENRE=5
WENBARRAMTREZHZEEAR
#513,330,0007T ©

H 6

HithEE R BRI B A B IREREm SN
ENBAR KRG WISAREZ FEREm#ER
HDRERAEANS N RAREMAEETRZH
NENREWRABAREZBZEZ3 ZEX7
HEFr A DB R LRI

EEEERHEE

FREE ANRHEFE (THRE) EXAVRRERRIER
RIE > A B P EIM B A B AFRES A 2K A
EERFRERET - ZZ BB E FEE R
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AR BB RIR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HAELRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE T A =+—HIEE

2021 2020
B 5 —ETEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREEFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R B & & E BN IR & i 2
(Loss)/profit before tax: SRR (8518) m Al
From continuing operation REFBRSEER (22,048) (78,278)
From a discontinued operation RE BRI S KR 1,329 (8,016)
Adjustments for: hoIRIE A% .
Finance costs LS A A 7 3,007 2,926
Bank interest income SRITA S UL A 5 (239) (419)
Finance income on the net investment in HEREFEELDN
alease BBEWA 5 (225) (389)
Depreciation of property, plant and Mz~ B R R EITE
equipment 6 876 1,089
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESERE 6 5,775 5,285
Fair value (gain)/losses, net: @@%Tﬁ (Cs=0g 7
TPEE
Equity investment at fair value through AR EEs ABa
profit or loss Z A E 6 (1,948) 188
Debt investment at fair value through BARBES A
profit or loss _ BmEBRE 5 (1,364) (1,607)
Government grants released to the STABERZ
statement of profit or loss 2 S B ARG 5 - (3,295)
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hhm i & ey 6 20,243 20,245
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment & 7 FEURIE BE
losses) of trade receivables, net E518 7 (RERS1E
(o)) =88 6 1,136 (71)
Impairment losses of other loan H W ERORE
receivables B398 34 = 9,367
Reversal of write-down of provision for MEELFEERESR
inventories to net realisable value B EIRE(E 6 (2,608) (1,360)
Impairment of goodwill P E R E 6 - 57,612
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR 34 (1,296) -
Cumulative loss on foreign currency HERE QTR
translation reserve upon disposal of PE O 1 R 5t 1E
subsidiaries 34 657 =
Share based payments DB AR 75 BRI TR 31 925 =
4,220 3,271
(Increase)/decrease in inventories E5 0gm b (2,064) 1,593
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills SR ES YU e
receivables ogm omb (9,608) 10,503
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, other  FE{JFRIE ~ ELfthFEUL
receivables and other assets TRIE K H A S E
({gam R (10,469) 10,827
Decrease in loan receivables EWERL 2,497 5,939
(Increase)/decrease in interest receivables  FEUF] S (GE0) 8> (46) 194
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B ENIE
120, GRi) 13,123 (9,206)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities ~ S#YEEIE M, (F/L) 2,036 (600)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and ~ ELfthfE(T =018 K fE 5+ &
accruals GR350 (3,675) 1,625
Increase in government grants AT Fe B 3 N - 3,295
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 4% (FrfB) /Fr8IR & (3,986) 27,447
Interest paid [EXREIS (3,007) (2,926)
Income taxes paid BENFTER (1,714) (4,604)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating T (FTA) s
activities REME P (8,707) 19,917
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES KRB EEBIIRE NS

Interest received

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries,
net of cash

Interest from debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss

(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing
activities

B WH S
ﬁ%ﬁ%% TR 5=

=

HE
HEMBAE (N A)

%ﬁc’&ﬁfﬁf@uﬂk}a 2By
BHRENFE
BiRiEER (21 /)

REEE FrA) /Fris
REMEFEE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES KRBt E ;EENIIREHE

New bank and other borrowings

Repayments of bank and other borrowings

Repayments of lease payments

Proceeds from issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interest

(Decrease)/increase in loans from a director

Net cash flows used in financing activities

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the consolidated statement of
financial position

¥ﬁi‘fEﬁ)§’zHT&Taﬂ
BEIRTT M EME
BEEBENR
RRADHITPIIS IR

BRI ETRX
REIFEREDAIHE

RE—ZHEBEHNEM
GRiZb) /1810

B E A
Rehie 2

RERAS LAY
[CE T
EHS RRSEEY

SNEEREFR B PR

FRESRREEEY

R RIS LAY
iR iR \
REERBRRRSIR
BeRHSZEY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_E - F=+—HIFFE

2021 2020
T % TEZTEF

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
KitaE ARETT AREFT
239 419
(1,846) (648)

34 13,354 =
1,472 -

(19,675) 24,928

(6,456) 24,699

42,073 48,146
(53,975) (57,447)
(7,636) (7,341)

14,455 -

(479) =

7,378 -

(6,683) 789
(4,867) (15,853)

(20,030) 28,763

76,128 48,781
(1,178) (1,416)

54,920 76,128

25 54,920 76,128
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the "Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 16 November 2007 as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The Company announced on 3 May
2021 that the Company proposed to change the domicile of
the Company from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda by way of
deregistration in the Cayman Islands and continuation as an
exempted company under the laws of Bermuda. The changes
become effective on 7 July 2021 (Bermuda time). The address
of the registered office of the Company has been changed from
P.0. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay
Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205, Cayman Islands to Canon's
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda after the
change of domicile. The Company's principal place of business
in Hong Kong is Room 1201, 12/F, C C Wu Building, 302-308
Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of network system
integration including the provision of network infrastructure
solutions, network professional services and smart office
software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
had discontinued its money lending business.

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Fortune Grace Management
Limited" (“Fortune Grace")
(Note)

Fortune Grace Management
Limited" (I Fortune Grace ] )

if=2

Wafer Systems Limited
BERRBRATE

Wafer Systems
(China) Limited
BERG (FE) BRAH

Beijing Wafer New Century
Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. **

("Beijing Wafer")

IR F AL B ARl
BRAR* (UREE )

Wafer Network Systems
(Shan hai) Co., Ltd. *"
EERBABRAFBRAT

Wafer (Xi'an) Software Co., Ltd.

**# ("Xi'an Wafer")
BEE (%) MERRAT
(TFAREEE )

Wafer Systems (Asia) Limited
BERG () BRAH

Wafer Systems
(Vietnam) Co., Ltd.
("Vietnam Wafer")
R (HE) BRAF
(T mE R 2 )

Chunlin Group Limited
BEREEBRAR

Place of incorporation/
registration and

Issued ordinary/
registered share

business capital
M BRTHE,/
K&z Q2N
Bv US$100
EEETRHS 10037
Hong Kong Hong Kong dollars
BB ("HKg") 67,269,905
67,269,9[]5:%77:

(F&7tl)

Hong Kong HK$30,000,000
= 30,000,000% 75
PRC/Mainland China US$15,000,000
FE,HEARE 15,000,000 7T
PRC/Mainland China RMB6,580,000
HE,FREIARE AEi6,580,0007T
PRC/Mainland China US$700,000
FRE R AR 700,000 75
Hong Kong HKS$10,000
55 10,0004 75
Vietnam USS$400,000
e 400,0005=75
Hong Kong HKS$1
BH 1787t

L2 N I T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R MY 5E

31 December 2021

REKRERER @
fit 8 A B =¥ 15
ERBEEWBRAT ZFELT :

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to
the Company

FAREMGRET DL

Direct Indirect  Principal activities

HiZ i TEXEH

100 - Investment holding

KEERK

Investment holding

KREER

Investment holding
and network system
integration

KREZERRABE
RRES

Investment holding
and network system
integration

% BIERR K MBA&
RRES

Network system
integration
BERGRES

Research and
development
i

Network system
integration
BERMES

Network system
integration
PRAEGES

Investment holding
and provision of
administrative support

of the Group
REZERMERAERE
BTES IR
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

business capital

SEfAR AL, AR BRTESE/

R Bz

Chunlin Technology Development  PRC/Mainland China RMB833,000,000®
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ** FRE AR A RE AR
("Chunlin Technology 833,000,0007c®

Place of incorporation/
registration and

Development")
ERREEE (R BRAR
(TEHZRFEE)

Note:

Subsidiaries whose statutory financial statements were not
audited by BDO Limited or another member firm of the BDO
global network

Wholly-foreign-owned limited liability enterprises

The English name is for identification purpose only

The registered share capital of Chunlin Technology Development
amounted to RMB833,000,000, among which RMB594,732,000
was unpaid as at 31 December 2021.

On 23 September 2021, the Company and Smoothly Global
Holdings Limited ("Smoothly Global”) entered into a sales
and purchase agreement, pursuant to which Smoothly Global
was desirous of selling and transferring its 25% equity share
in Fortune Grace to the Company at the consideration of
HK$30,000,000 (“Acquisition”). The consideration shall be
settled by the issue of the convertible bond in the principal
amount of HK$30,000,000. Prior to the completion of the
Acquisition, the Company held 75% of equity interest in Fortune
Grace. Upon the completion of the Acquisition on 26 November
2021, Fortune Grace became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

InvesTech Holdings Limited &zl =8 B IR A E

Issued ordinary/
registered share

RAKREBRER @
MEARFE @

Percentage of equity
interest attributable to

the Company

FAREMGRIET S

Direct

Miaz -

Hi% %

Indirect  Principal activities

TEEH

Technology Development

B3

HAEMBRRUIFHE B EERES
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B TBE R
N_E-—F+ZA=+—8 EHRHE
R MAR A% AR 833,000,000 &
1 A R #8594,732,0007T & AR A4 < o

R_E_—FNABZ+=H > E&2H
BSmoothly Global Holdings Limited
(TSmoothly Globall) 3] 1L E & % »
#IE> Smoothly GlobalE BEUREA
30,000,000 wMA LA E HEREEH
5 HAFortune Grace FY25%/GH#E( T BB =
151 ) o B BB 31T AR £ %87330,000,000
BTN MEESEE NINEEETAK
il » Z~AF)FE A Fortune GraceRy75%% # o
R_E - —F+—AZ+/"BRESFER
B > Fortune Gracefi B4R ABMNEES
= EVASIR

R EEIRETIEREFTERENR
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
(which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs")
and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for a
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income, an equity investment at fair value through profit or loss
and a debt investment at fair value through profit or loss which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“"RMB") and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R MIEE

31 December 2021
—FE_—Ff+_F=+—H
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(TEIFRE st EAZE S ) B 2 BRY
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2.1

102

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements.

COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendment to IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS
16

The new and amended IFRSs that are effective from 1
January 2021 did not have significant financial effect on these
consolidated financial statements. Impact on the applications
of these amended IFRSs are summarised below.

31 December 2021
e e U

2.2 SEEEREPRIKE

FEBERFTFEZHHREERFAMU
TRTE] R ARME ST BRI 3R S 2R o

B P B 5 e 5 2 )
B165EHEST
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WS R SE165%0Y
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 S BREHKRIBEE @

DISCLOSURES (continued)
Amendment to IFRS 16: COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

In April 2021, the IASB amended IFRS 16 Leases, extending
the practical expedient in order to permit lessees to apply it
to rent concessions for which reductions in lease payments
affect payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022.
This amendment is applicable for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2021, with early application
permitted, including in financial statements not authorised for
issue at 9 April 2021.

The Group has early adopted this amendment for its annual
reporting period beginning on 1 January 2021. The application
of the amendments did not have any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS
16 - Interest rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect financial
reporting when a company replaces the old interest rate
benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate as a result
of the interest rate benchmark reform (the “Reform”). The
amendments complement those issued in November 2019
and relate to (a) changes to contractual cash flows in which
an entity will not have to derecognise or adjust the carrying
amount of financial instruments for changes required by the
Reform, but will instead update the effective interest rate to
reflect the change to the alternative benchmark rate; (b) hedge
accounting in which an entity will not have to discontinue its
hedge accounting solely because it makes changes required
by the Reform, if the hedge meets other hedge accounting
criteria; and (c) disclosures in which an entity will be required
to disclose information about new risks arising from the Reform
and how it manages the transition to alternative benchmark
rates.

The application of the amendments did not have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR R

31 DecemberZUZl

EEBREBRINE @

EPRAA F5 3R 5 R SH955E - EIIR B 51 %

B 553955 ~ B PR A TSR S RIS T5R - B
MREA TSRS R A R E PR AT IR E
ZRFE16SRAET —FIREENE-F
ZPEER

ZEBRARFEREENE (TRE)) m
ERNEUBREENERAENXEE
RO SER BB R ENME ZE B =
“E-NF+—BEMIESTEEAER
PR EMNRSRED ERESTENE
FTERMNEFHMA BRI BAESHTE
NREEE > MEEMBREMN XU R ME
REERNXPES ; (b)E AT M
R A EAME R g R BEEBAR
AR EPMERNES MA IEEH P E S
% R()BEBEER BRARERMRNE
s sk AR E R U A AEEEE
BREENZXRBE o

EREBITIERGAMBRRERNEAT
%,

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 1 05




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFE 4R R M 5E

31 December 2021
TS = 5 —(g

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
There are a number of standards, amendments to standards,
and interpretations which have been issued by the IASB that
are effective in future accounting periods that the group has
decided not to adopt early.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?
Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies?

Amendments to [AS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates?
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use’

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Amendments to IFRS 1, Annual Improvements to IFRS

IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41 Standards 2018-2020"

Amendment to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Amendments to IFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary
Exemption from Applying
IFRS 93

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture’

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendment to IFRS 17 Initial Application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 - Comparative
Information?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

S The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or

contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning on
or after a date to be determined.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification
is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the
end of the reporting period. The amendments also introduce a
definition of 'settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers
to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments,
other assets or services.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 -
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The IASB amended IAS 1 to require entities to disclose their
material rather than their significant accounting policies.
The amendments define what is ‘material accounting policy
information' and explain how to identify when accounting policy
information is material. They further clarify that immaterial
accounting policy information does not need to be disclosed.
If it is disclosed, it should not obscure material accounting
information.

To support this amendment, the IASB also amended IFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements to
provide guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IAS 8 - Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors clarify how companies should
distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in
accounting estimates. The distinction is important, because
changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively to
future transactions and other future events, but changes in
accounting policies are generally applied retrospectively to
past transactions and other past events as well as the current
period.

Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes require companies
to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable and
deductible temporary differences. They will typically apply to
transactions such as leases of lessees and decommissioning
obligations and will require the recognition of additional
deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The amendment should be applied to transactions that occur
on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented. In addition, entities should recognise deferred tax
assets (to the extent that it is probable that they can be utilised)
and deferred tax liabilities at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with:

o right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and
° decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities, and

the corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost
of the related assets.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to

Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
(continued)

The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments is
recognised in retained earnings, or another component of
equity, as appropriate.

IAS 12 did not previously address how to account for the tax
effects of on-balance sheet leases and similar transactions and
various approaches were considered acceptable. Some entities
may have already accounted for such transactions consistent
with the new requirements. These entities will not be affected
by the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits entities
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced while
bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from
selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in
profit or loss.

Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous Contracts

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling' a contract
comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs
that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs
of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and materials)
or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
contracts (e.g. the allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the
contract).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR R

31 December 2021
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IFRS 3 - Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 instead
of the version issued in 2010. The amendments add to IFRS
3 a requirement that, for obligations within the scope of IAS
37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine whether at the
acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result of past
events. For a levy that would be within the scope of IFRIC-Int 21
Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC-Int 21 to determine whether
the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy
has occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments also
add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. When the transaction with an associate or
joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary
that does not contain a business are recognised in the profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests
in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses
resulting from the remeasurement of retained interest in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint
venture) to fair value are recognised in the profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in the new
associate or joint venture.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards

First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards, which permit a subsidiary that applies paragraph
D16(a) of IFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation differences
using the amounts reported by its parent, based on the parent's
date of transition to IFRSs.

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees included in the
‘10 per cent' test in paragraph B3.3.6 of IFRS 9 in assessing
whether to derecognise a financial liability, explaining that
only fees paid or received between the entity and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender
on other's behalf are included.

IFRS 16 - Leases

Leases, which amend Illustrative Example 13 to remove the
illustration of reimbursement of leasehold improvements by
the lessor in order to resolve any potential confusion regarding
the treatment of lease incentives that might arise because of
how lease incentives are illustrated in that example.

IAS 41 - Agriculture

Agriculture, which remove the requirement to exclude taxation
cash flows when measuring the fair value of a biological asset
using a present value technique.

IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of insurance contracts and supersedes IFRS 4, Insurance
Contracts. The standard outlines a ‘General Model’, which
is modified for insurance contracts with direct participation
features, described as the 'Variable Fee Approach’. The General
Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by measuring the
liability for remaining coverage using the Premium Allocation
Approach.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments and revision in the future will
have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M |RRMEE

31 December 2021
e e U

2.3 EEMERRERZERMEBRS

£8 (®)
I PR B #5385 ZE RSB 198 — B R IRAME
PR TSR S22 R

BERRMERYHFREER RFFER
RIS ERF15EED16(a) RBVMTE A
BIRESATBEERRYFREEIN
B ERSATREHNEESFERSE
RER-

B EBHRSENFIER-—ERMIA
TRTR BRERMBRESEEIRS
B3.3.652110% J RIS Fr BBV E A » LG
EERIEIEHER UHREEERA
ERAZBEX R BB ER  SEEEE
HERANREMTT AT HUWEBIER °

BRI RS EAF165E—HE

& E5] 513188 B LAM FR B L AE
BEEEEENRE EMAREZT G F
HEEENRBAAMAIEEENEAA
LS EERERNET RS

B G st ER EL15E— 2%
B ECHFRARAEARMNEEYEEN
AABEBFRHERREBRSREBNRTE

EFRM B EREERBITR—REEL
AR IS 58 F R IR ERRE
GHIRA > W ECEFR M FR E 2ER5E4
SERER ARV o REERMBEAL T —fARAEEL ) > Wit
HAEHESARUENRRBRGHNET TE
o B TR BRZE) o MET —REEN
REFBERRE DB ASTER TRERB
MER > —AREE A F UL

ERBEZFARRKEBETERETH
TEHGEEMBRRERTE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — & = —FF 3R 1 1 1

VA i



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree's identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group's
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments and debt
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant's ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and goodwill),
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-
generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charge